

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Leadership, Quality Improvement, Team Functionality, and HIV Viral Load Suppression in Uganda

Esther Karungi Karamagi Nkolo Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Epidemiology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Professions

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Esther Karungi Karamagi Nkolo

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Diana Naser, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Wen-Hung Kuo, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Pelagia Melea, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2020

Abstract

Leadership, Quality Improvement, Team Functionality, and HIV Viral Load Suppression

in Uganda

by

Esther Karungi Karamagi Nkolo

MSc Infectious Diseases, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2009 MBChB, Mbarara University of Science and Technology, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health - Epidemiology

Walden University

February 2021

Abstract

Low viral load suppression rate is a significant public health issue in Uganda and similar countries. A nationwide quality improvement (QI) initiative was implemented from January 2019 to improve viral load suppression. Although QI team characteristics have been shown to influence the success of such QI initiatives, no studies have been found to understand how they influence the success of QI efforts to improve HIV viral load suppression in Uganda. The purpose of this cross-sectional, quantitative study was to determine whether there is a significant association between HIV clinic leader involvement in QI teams, QI team functionality, QI team diversity, QI team skill, and HIV viral load suppression rates in Uganda, controlling for age, sex, and health facility type. The study was grounded in the model for success in quality improvement (MUSIQ) and the chronic care model (CCM). Secondary data for 2,758 patients attending 18 HIV clinics across three regions in Uganda were abstracted from the health management information system. Sampling was at the health facility level so that all patients in each sampled clinics were included. Data were analyzed using logistic regression, with one binary dependent variable of viral load suppression recorded as suppressed or unsuppressed. Leadership involvement, team functionality, patient age, patient sex, and health facility type were significantly associated with viral load suppression (p < 0.05 for each). QI initiatives should invest in QI team characteristics because they affect patient outcomes. This study could potentially impact social change in low-income settings by improving service delivery for people with HIV in Uganda so that they achieve viral load suppression.

Leadership, Quality Improvement, Team Functionality, and HIV Viral Load Suppression

in Uganda

by

Esther Karungi Karamagi Nkolo

MSc Infectious Diseases, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2009 MBChB, Mbarara University of Science and Technology, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health - Epidemiology

Walden University

February 2021

Dedication

This work is dedicated to Mrs. Ann Mary Nakasoma Karamagi, Mr. Cyprian Rwakuliremu Karamagi, and Dr. Abel Nkolo. My parents, Mr. and Mrs. Karamagi, spent a significant part of their time and resources on mentoring and educating me. The resilience I have had to display to complete this work is a product of the character they built in me. My husband, Dr. Abel Nkolo, introduced me to Walden University, and selflessly and tirelessly enabled my progress. He has been a power source for me throughout this dissertation.

Acknowledgments

This work is a product of engaging a network of people, including Walden University faculty, family, and friends. First, I am extremely grateful to Dr. Diana D. Naser, the dissertation committee chair, who relentlessly led me through this dissertation. I benefited from her 35 plus years of research experience, and specific experience in leadership. I would also like to extend my deepest gratitude to Dr. Wen-Hung Kuo, a member of my dissertation committee, who provided invaluable guidance on the methodology of this dissertation even when he had to participate in presentations in the middle of the night. I especially benefited from his extensive background in epidemiology research methods and work experience on HIV with CDC. I very much appreciate Dr. Pelagia Melea, my University Research Reviewer, and the team at the Center for Research Quality, specifically Dr. Zin Hitway and Dr. Reginald Taylor, who were instrumental at the analysis phase. They had several sessions with me and shared templates, slides, and notes on logistic regression. I gratefully acknowledge the assistance of Pamm Kemp, my Student Success Advisor, Dr. Sara Witty from the Writing Centre, and the Walden IRB team. I thank them for their ability to promptly resolve any issues that came up and provide constructive advice.

I am also deeply indebted to several people outside the Walden community. I had the honor of engaging Dr. Mwebesa Henry, the Director General at the Ministry of Health (MoH) in Uganda, and his team. His guidance and patience cannot be underestimated, especially considering his historical achievements in QI in Uganda. The completion of my dissertation would not have been possible without the support of my husband, Dr. Abel Nkolo, and my children Paula Nkolo, Paul Nkolo, Priscilla Nkolo, Patricia Nkolo, and Peter Nkolo, who shared this journey with me, celebrating the achievement of each milestone. Their profound belief in my work and my abilities kept me going. Thanks also to my siblings Hilda, Hellene, Ednah, Humphrey, Enid, Sandra, Angella, Conrad, and Maryanne, for being role models as they achieved their own life successes. I appreciate my friends, who I cannot name individually but were certainly equally important, for never letting me down throughout this journey. I cannot end without thanking the TASO IRB team and the Uganda National Council for Science and Technology (UNCST), whose prompt and useful feedback strengthened this dissertation.

List of Tables	iii
List of Figures	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background of the Study	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	5
Research Question(s) and Hypotheses	6
Conceptual Framework	7
Nature of the Study	8
Definitions	10
Assumptions	.11
Scope and Delimitations	.11
Limitations	.13
Significance of the Study	.13
Summary	.14
Chapter 2: Literature Review	16
Literature Search Strategy	17
Conceptual Framework	18
Literature Review	.22
Summary and Conclusions	.37
Chapter 3: Research Method	.40

Table of Contents

Research Design and Rationale	40
Methodology	41
Data Analysis Plan	47
Threats to Validity	49
Ethical Procedures	51
Summary	
Chapter 4: Results	53
Data Collection	54
Results	55
Summary	63
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	64
Limitations of the Study	70
Recommendations	70
Implications	71
Conclusion	72
References	74

List of Tables

Table 1. Operationalization of Variables		
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics of Continuous Variables	55	
Table 3. Descriptive Statistics of Categorical Variables	56	
Table 4. Research Question One: Variables in the Equation	60	
Table 5. Research Question Two: Variables in the Equation	61	
Table 6. Research Question Three: Variables in the Equation	63	

List of Figures

Figure 1.	The Chronic	Care Model		9
-----------	-------------	------------	--	---

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

In Uganda, unsuppressed HIV viral load is a significant public health issue. The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends three intensive adherence counselling (IAC) sessions over 90 days for all people with unsuppressed viral load (WHO, 2016). QI is an intervention that has been shown to close gaps in adhering to guidelines and protocols and is, therefore, an appropriate approach to improve the management of unsuppressed patients by ensuring all patients who are eligible for three IAC sessions receive all three sessions within the 90-day time frame. Contextual factors such as HIV clinic leaders' involvement in QI teams, QI team diversity, and team skill are important considerations for viral load suppression rates (Kiweewa et al., 2019).

The purpose of this cross-sectional, quantitative study was to determine whether there was a significant association between HIV clinic leader involvement in QI team, QI team functionality, QI team diversity, QI team skill, and HIV viral load suppression rates in Uganda. This study is important because there are many unsuppressed patients on antiretroviral therapy (ART) in Uganda (Nasuuna et al., 2018; Yotebieng et al., 2019). This problem of viral load suppression persists even with good ART coverage (Flynn et al., 2017). This study could potentially impact social change in low-income settings by improving service delivery for people with HIV in Uganda so that they achieve viral load suppression amidst the challenges in such settings. This chapter includes information about the background of this study, problem statement, theoretical framework, purpose, research questions, nature of the study, assumptions, and limitations.

Background of the Study

Low viral load suppression rate is a current problem the AIDS Control Program is facing in Uganda and other countries in sub-Saharan Africa (Nasuuna et al., 2018; Yotebieng et al., 2019). The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS) 90-90-90 targets were set in 2014 to stimulate meaningful progress in the control of HIV (UNAIDS 2020). The third 90 refers to at least 90% of people on sustained ART have suppressed viral load. In Uganda, viral load suppression is poorly performing. IAC is successful for about 62% of unsuppressed children (Nasuuna et al., 2018). In addition, after 200 days, only 50% of the children eligible for three IAC sessions had received these (Nasuuna et al., 2018). This shows a need for improvement in processes and systems at the frontline to ensure all unsuppressed HIV patients receive the three IAC sessions within the 90 days recommended for IAC.

There is adequate evidence supporting the use of modern QI methods to improve health care in low-income settings (Broughton et al., 2016; Byabagambi et al., 2017; Karamagi et al., 2017; Livesley et al., 2019). QI is an appropriate approach to improve the management of unsuppressed patients by ensuring all patients who are eligible for three IAC receive all three sessions in time. QI involves frontline health workers identifying gaps and coming up with process and system changes to close them (Fulop & Ramsay, 2019).

Kiweewa et al. (2019) identified multiple patient-level predictors of virologic failure. The researchers also identified context as a predictor of virologic failure, specifically mentioning that accessing HIV care in a health facility outside Uganda

increased the risk of virologic failure in their study that covered health facilities in Uganda, Kenya, Tanzania, and Nigeria. One of the recommendations was further studies to understand contextual factors that predict virologic failure in people with HIV on ART.

Leadership is one of the contextual factors that has driven many successful healthcare interventions (Fulop & Ramsay, 2019). Morgan et al. (2019) conducted a qualitative study to understand the barriers and facilitators of the success of an intervention to improve dementia. Leadership engagement facilitated the success of this intervention. In addition, Vaughn et al. (2019) conducted a systematic review to understand the cross-cutting characteristics of health care organizations trying to improve quality, but without success. Vaughn et al. identified disconnection of leadership as one of the problems across all organizations struggling with improvement. One of the roles described for leaders in QI is ensuring the engagement of all staff in the improvement and managing resistance to improvements as they evolve (Fulop & Ramsay, 2019).

The MUSIQ summarizes the factors leading to the success of QI work (Kaplan et al., 2012). Kaplan et al (2012) recommend further research to unpack the relationship between the contextual, actionable factors that influence the success of QI work. QI team leadership involvement at the microsystem level and team diversity are two factors identified by Kaplan et al (2012) as influencers of the success of QI efforts in this model. I designed this study to evaluate the association between leadership involvement, QI team diversity, QI team skill, and the success of the QI team as measured by team functionality to improve viral load suppression.

Problem Statement

The HIV prevalence in adults in Uganda in 15–64 years old is 6.2%, and in children, 0–14 years is 0.5% (United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief [PEPFAR], 2019). IAC is successful for about 62% of unsuppressed children (Nasuuna et al., 2018). In addition, after 200 days, only 50% of the children eligible for three IAC sessions had received the sessions (Nasuuna et al., 2018). Economic strengthening has also been shown to improve viral load suppression 10-fold in adolescents living with HIV in Uganda (Bermudez et al., 2018). Economic strengthening in this study refers to an intervention to support saving at the family level to build capital to start an incomegenerating activity. Economically stronger families will be able to address the problem of paying for transportation to the HIV clinic or drug pick up point to receive ART monthly (Bermudez et al., 2018). Appointment keeping improves drug adherence, which improves viral load suppression (Bermudez et al., 2018). Implementation of economic strengthening in families with adolescents living with HIV could improve viral load suppression.

There is a need for QI in processes and systems used by health care providers to ensure all patients with unsuppressed viral load receive the three IAC sessions within the 90 days recommended for IAC. QI involves health care providers identifying gaps such as not accessing three IAC sessions within 90 days of an unsuppressed viral load result and not switching unsuppressed patients to a more potent regimen and coming up with creative ways to close the gaps (Fulop & Ramsay, 2019; MoH, 2018a). In this study, I examined QI teams for viral load suppression. Their functionality was a measure of the number of documented changes tested to improve viral load suppression in the study period. Such functional QI teams effectively achieve their aims (Schentrup et al., 2018).

Contextual factors influence the success of interventions in health care and can influence the viral load suppression rates of patients attending ART clinics in different settings in African countries (Kiweewa et al., 2019). Kiweewa et al. (2019) recommend further research to understand these contextual factors. These factors have been studied in more detail in maternal health in the United States. Researchers have identified several differences in context as drivers for successful QI efforts to improve perinatal processes (birth registry and elective delivery before 38 weeks) in Ohio maternity hospitals in The United States of America (Reed et al., 2018). Systematic reviews and quantitative studies have shown that these contextual factors have been responsible for the success of a wide range of improvement projects in high-income settings, including improvements on early term delivery without indication, bacterial infections in infants, health outcomes of children at a children's hospital, and processes at different organizations of students at an improvement course (Kaplan et al., 2013). However, there are no extant studies regarding how contextual factors such as HIV clinic leaders' involvement in QI (QI) teams, QI team diversity, and team skill could influence the success of QI efforts to improve HIV viral load suppression in Uganda.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this cross-sectional, quantitative study was to determine whether there was a significant association between HIV clinic leader involvement in QI team, QI team functionality, QI team diversity, QI team skill, and HIV viral load suppression rates in Uganda. The dependent variable was the HIV viral load suppression rates for patients on ART in the HIV clinic with 53 or more HIV patients with unsuppressed viral load in January 2019. The independent variables were HIV clinic leadership involvement in QI teams, QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and QI team skill. The control variables are patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

Research Question(s) and Hypotheses

Research Question 1 (RQ1): Is there a significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type?

Null Hypothesis (H_01): There is no significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a 1): There is a significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

Research Question 2 (RQ2): Is there a significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type?

Null Hypothesis (H_02): There is no significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a2): There is a significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

Research Question 3 (RQ3): Is there a significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type?

Null Hypothesis (H_03): There is no significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

Alternative Hypothesis (H_a 3): There is a significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

Conceptual Framework

The framework for this study consisted of two models: CCM, and MUSIQ. The CCM was developed to describe what it takes to manage patients with chronic disease to achieve good outcomes (Wagner, 1998). The model has six components: selfmanagement support, delivery system design, decision support, clinical information systems, organization of health care, and community support (Wagner, 1998). The result is productive interaction between health care providers and patients, leading to improved clinical outcomes (Wagner, 1998). In a prospective controlled study on the effect of the chronic care model on HIV outcomes in Uganda, researchers found that the odds of increased CD4 cell count in the group that received the CCM was 3.2 times higher than in the group that did not receive the model (Broughton et al, 2016).

MUSIQ is a framework that outlines 25 actionable contextual factors that will influence the success of QI work (Kaplan et al., 2012). The model was developed following a systematic review to identify evidence-based contextual factors influencing QI success, followed by a consensus-building process among QI experts. Subsequently, Kaplan et al. (2013) conducted a quantitative study of 74 QI teams and found a significant association between these factors and improvement observed. A subsequent version of this model was developed to include more factors and expand or narrow the definitions of some of the factors within (Reed et al., 2018). The factors in this model are categorized as factors of the external environment, organization, QI capacity, QI team, microsystem, or miscellaneous (Reed et al., 2018). QI team factors are QI team skill, decision making, tenure, diversity, leadership, and prior QI experience (Reed et al., 2018). This model can be used to support the research questions as team HIV clinic leader's involvement in QI teams, QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and QI team skill are listed in this model as influencers of the success of the QI team. In combination, the CCM and MUSIQ grounded the study in theory.

Nature of the Study

I used secondary data for this quantitative cross-sectional study. The research questions to determine whether there was a significant association were best answered

using quantitative approaches. Uganda has 1,947 ART sites; 1,142 were targeted for a QI intervention to improve HIV viral load suppression. There is a total of 402 high volume health facilities in Uganda (MoH, 2018b). These are two national referral hospitals, 12 regional referral hospitals, two referral hospitals, 163 general hospitals, and 222 health center four level facilities (MoH, 2018b). A health center IV is a health facility that services a parliamentary constituency, also called a county. Two or more counties make up one district. Those without HIV clinics were excluded from this study. The dependent variable was the HIV viral load suppression rates for adults and children on ART in the clinic. This was a dichotomous variable. Patients with HIV are categorized as suppressed if their viral load is less than 1000 copies per milliliter, or unsuppressed if their viral load is equal to or more than 1000 copies per milliliter (MoH, 2018a; Kiweewa et al., 2018; WHO, 2016). In line with this, I categorized patients in this study as suppressed if their viral load is less than 1000 copies per milliliter, or unsuppressed if their viral load is equal to or more than 1000 copies per milliliter. The independent variables were the HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team diversity, QI functionality, and QI team skill. The control variables were patient age, patient sex, and health facility type. QI team diversity was a continuous variable measured by the number of different professionals or cadres represented on the QI team. The professionals or cadres were medical doctors, nurses, midwives, nursing assistants, laboratory technicians, data officers or clerks, counsellors, clinical officers, social workers, pharmacists, and community health workers (linkage facilitators and ART aides). QI team skill was a continuous variable that measured the correct use of a documentation journal. Each

health facility had a documentation journal for each QI project on viral load suppression, as recommended by MoH. Each journal contained an improvement aim reflecting the performance gap, an indicator for the improvement aim, the root cause of the performance gap, changes tested to address the root cause, and a time series chart. An updated time series chart to track progress included a title reflecting the indicator of the improvement aim, numerator, denominator, annotations, and analysis for trends and shifts. The data abstractor at each health facility used a checklist to indicate which of these components were filled in the team's documentation journal. I used binary logistic regression for data analysis.

Definitions

Leader's involvement: Leadership involvement is the connection of HIV clinic leaders to frontline health care providers so as to participate in solving problems presented by staff and use their positions to influence solutions to these problems (Sexton et al., 2018; Vaughn et al., 2019)

Team functionality: QI team functionality is a reflection of a team's ability to continuously test and implement changes (Costa et al., 2019; Harvey & Lynch, 2017; Parchman et al., 2019).

Team diversity: Team diversity refers to the extent to which people from different professions or people from different units comprise the improvement team (Engels et al., 2009; Rowland et al., 2018)

Team skill: In healthcare, this refers to the ability to apply QI science to identify and close performance gaps (Worsley et al., 2016)

Viral load suppression: In Uganda and similar countries, for public health purposes, a patient with HIV has an unsuppressed viral load if the viral load count is equal to or more than 1000 copies of the virus per milliliter of their blood (Kiweewa et al., 2018; MoH, 2018a; WHO, 2016)

Assumptions

I assumed that QI teams maintained a QI documentation journal. This is required by the MoH (MoH, 2016). This was important because the data source for team functionality, leadership involvement, team diversity, and team skill was the QI documentation journal. I also assumed that all patients with HIV had a viral load test done. The Ugandan national guidelines recommend a viral load test for each patient with HIV at least once every year (MoH, 2018a). Finally, I assumed HIV clinics had improvement projects to close performance gaps in viral load suppression. The AIDS Control Program (ACP) identified viral load suppression as a priority gap to be closed in 2019 using QI.

Scope and Delimitations

In this study, I focused on the context of a QI team working to improve viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda. Leadership involvement in QI teams, team functionality, team diversity, and team skill were selected because they are actionable. HIV stakeholders in limited-resource settings like Uganda can take action to improve these contextual factors, and therefore improve the viral load suppression rates of patients attending HIV clinics. This is an important finding for healthcare in limited-resource settings. The study included unsuppressed patients attending HIV clinics with QI projects to improve viral load suppression. I included all unsuppressed patients regardless of their age, sex, pregnancy or lactating status, and the ART regimen they were on. I excluded patients attending clinics that had no QI projects to close performance gaps in viral load suppression. At the analysis stage, SPSS excluded patients with missing data on viral load suppression rate. The results of the study are generalizable to HIV patients in Uganda.

The study was grounded in the MUSIQ and CCM conceptual frameworks. CCM has six components: self-management support, delivery system design, decision support, clinical information systems, organization of health care, and community support (Wagner, 1998). I focused on delivery system design and organization of health care. I did not use the other components of the model in this study. MUSIQ is a framework that categorizes actionable contextual factors into factors of the external environment, organization, QI capacity, QI team, microsystem, or miscellaneous (Reed et al., 2018). The factors included in the QI team category are: QI team skill, decision making, tenure, diversity, leadership, and prior QI experience (Reed et al., 2018). I focused on team diversity, team skill, and leadership involvement, all in relation to team functionality. I did not cover decision making, tenure, and prior QI experience in this study. I also did not investigate the categories of the external environment, organization, QI capacity, microsystem, or miscellaneous. I considered the Donabedian model for this study but did not use it. The Donabedian model implies that quality outcomes are determined by inputs and processes of care (Donabedian, 1988). Coyle and Battles (1999) highlighted that the

Donabedian model does not cover external and contextual factors that affect quality. Because I focused on the effect of contextual factors on the outcomes of unsuppressed HIV patients, the Donabedian model was not a good fit.

Limitations

The limitation of this study was the use of secondary data. Missing data is a common problem when secondary data is used. I expected that not all patients would have a record of their viral load suppression result. I countered this by using a larger sample size. Misinterpretation of variables during data collection was another potential problem. I provided detailed definitions of the variables of team functionality, team diversity, team skill, and leadership involvement to make sure the correct data is collected. Another challenge that I anticipated was the cost of collecting data from multiple facilities spread across Uganda. One research question required that different leaders be compared, therefore it was not possible to study data from one facility only.

Significance of the Study

The original contribution of this study may be to provide insight on whether contextual factors of team HIV clinic leader's involvement in QI teams, QI team diversity, and QI team skill influence the success of QI teams working on HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in high-volume health facilities in Uganda. Because these are actionable contextual factors, if there is a significant association, teams that do not have leader's involvement, team diversity, and team skill can take action to implement these factors before or during QI projects, and therefore improve the success of QI projects on HIV viral load suppression of patients attending their clinics. The leader who wants to improve viral load suppression can join the QI team. Team diversity can be improved by inviting people from more professions involved in patient care like laboratory professionals and counsellors. HIV stakeholders can improve QI team skill improved by training staff on the topics of principles of QI, the use of QI tools and the use of time series charts. HIV stakeholders can also provide resource materials on time series charts and tools for QI.

Uganda has a high HIV prevalence of 6.2%. Only 63% of people with HIV have a suppressed viral load (UNAIDS, 2020). This is low considering the UNAIDS target of 74% by 2020 (UNAIDS, 2020). People with HIV in low-income settings such as Uganda access care from a system characterized by limitations in service delivery like inadequate skill (Figueroa et al., 2019). To manage, service delivery models have been designed and tested to improve the outcomes of patients. To manage HIV patients who have an unsuppressed viral load, the MoH in Uganda recommends three intensive adherence counselling sessions, followed by switch to second or third-line ART if the patient remains unsuppressed (MoH, 2018a). The positive social change implications could be to improve healthcare delivery for people in low-income settings.

Summary

Unsuppressed viral load suppression is a current significant problem in Uganda. I designed this cross-sectional quantitative study to link these QI success factors to viral load suppression rates in Uganda. QI is an appropriate approach to improve the management of unsuppressed patients by ensuring all patients who are eligible for three IAC receive all three sessions in time. Team diversity, team skill, team functionality, and leadership involvement are known success factors for QI. Improvement of these factors may contribute to the improvement of delivery system design and organization of health care. The positive social change implications could be to improve healthcare delivery for people in low-income settings. Chapter 2 will include the literature search strategy, theoretical framework, and literature review for this study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

In Uganda, HIV viral load suppression is a significant public health issue that needs urgent attention. The WHO recommends IAC for all people with unsuppressed viral load in low-income settings (WHO 2016). QI is an intervention that has been shown to close gaps in adhering to guidelines and protocols and is, therefore, an appropriate approach to improve the management of unsuppressed patients by ensuring all patients who are eligible for three IAC receive all three sessions in time. Contextual factors can influence the viral load suppression rates of patients attending ART clinics in different settings in African countries (Kiweewa et al., 2019). In addition, contextual factors have been responsible for the success of a wide range of QI projects in high-income settings, including improvements on early term delivery without indication, bacterial infections in infants, health outcomes of children at a children's hospital, and processes at different organizations of students at an improvement course (Kaplan et al., 2013). However, no studies have been found to understand how contextual factors such as HIV clinic leader's involvement in QI teams, QI team diversity, and team skill could influence the success of QI efforts to improve HIV viral load suppression in Uganda.

The purpose of this cross-sectional quantitative study was to determine whether there was a significant association between HIV clinic leader involvement in QI team, QI team functionality, QI team diversity, QI team skill, and HIV viral load suppression rates in Uganda. This chapter includes the results of the literature review. The chapter starts with the literature search strategy and reviews MUSIQ as the conceptual framework for this study. This is followed by the literature review to elaborate on the history, successes, and failures of HIV programming in Uganda, the involvement of leadership in healthcare and HIV, QI in healthcare, and what is known about QI team diversity, skill, and functionality.

Literature Search Strategy

To begin the literature search, I identified 11 topics relating to the research questions in the approved prospectus. These 11 topics were HIV in Uganda, ART, viral load suppression, intensive adherence counseling, leadership involvement in healthcare, HIV clinic leader, QI in healthcare, QI in HIV clinics in Uganda, QI team diversity, QI team skill, QI team functionality, and MUSIQ. For each topic, I started the literature search with searching the Walden University electronic library by the subjects of health sciences, counseling, business, and management. Any articles I identified using this broad strategy were used to identify keywords, databases, and websites to search further.

I searched the Thoreau, ProQuest health and medical collection, SAGE journals, CINAHL, MEDLINE, Uganda MoH website, WHO, PEPFAR, and CDC websites. Google search engine was another tool I used to find specific articles, especially on QI, known from my work experience. Keywords used I used were: *viral load suppression*, *leadership involvement*, *HIV*, *healthcare*, *healthcare leadership challenges*, *QI team*, *MUSIQ*, *leader participation*, *sustained virological response*, *virologic failure*, *intensive adherence counseling*, *Africa*, *Uganda*, and *chronic care model*.

This search strategy generated a total of 100 to 1000 papers each time the different combinations of keywords were entered in a search engine. These numbers were narrowed down to 20–60 papers for each of the 11 topics by including only scholarly

articles, and articles published from 2016 to 2019. I identified the final set of articles included in the literature review by reviewing the abstracts of the 20–60 papers for each of the 11 topics. The articles I used for the literature review were only those available as full text and peer-reviewed.

Conceptual Framework

The framework for this study consisted of two models: CCM, and MUSIQ. Wagner (1998) developed the CCM (Figure 1) to describe what it takes to manage patients with chronic disease to achieve good outcomes. The model has six components: self-management support, delivery system design, decision support, clinical information systems, organization of health care, and community support (Wagner, 1998). The model predicts productive interaction between health care providers and patients, leading to improved clinical outcomes (Wagner, 1998). MUSIQ is a framework that outlines 25 actionable contextual factors that will influence the success of QI work (Kaplan et al., 2012). The model was developed following a systematic review to identify evidencebased contextual factors influencing QI success, followed by a consensus-building process among QI experts. Subsequently, Kaplan et al. (2013) conducted a quantitative study of 74 QI teams and found a significant association between these factors and improvement observed. The second version of this model was developed to include more factors and expand or narrow the definitions of some of the factors within (Reed et al., 2018). In combination, the CCM and MUSIQ serve as the theoretical framework for this study.

Figure 1

The Chronic Care Model



Note. This figure illustrates the relationship between the six components of the chronic care model (Wagner, 1998)

The CCM has been applied widely in multiple settings. Several international studies have shown that application of the CCM improves the quality of care, patient experience, medication adherence, patient outcomes, and controls cost (Davy et al., 2015; Koh et al., 2013; Mackey et al., 2012; Stock et al., 2017). The CCM is practical, flexible, and generates sustainable results (Cramm & Nieboer, 2014; Jacelon et al., 2011). The success of the CCM is affected by factors like the organization's structural characteristics and support from the leaders (Kadu & Stolee, 2015). More recently, the CCM has been applied in low-income settings. In a prospective controlled study on the effect of the chronic care model on HIV outcomes in Uganda, researchers found that the odds of

increased CD4 cell count in the group that received the CCM was 3.2 times higher than in the group that did not receive the model (Broughton et al., 2016). A South African study demonstrated that it is possible to adhere to the components of the CCM amidst high disease prevalence and limited resources (Lebina et al., 2019). The model is now proposed for use at scale in HIV clinics in Uganda to improve HIV outcomes (Kiyaga et al., 2018; Kwarisiima et al., 2019). The CCM was appropriate for this study, specifically the model components of delivery system design and the organization of health care which cover the study variables of leadership involvement, team functionality, team diversity, and team skill.

Reed et al (2018) categorized the factors in the MUSIQ into the external environment, organization, QI capacity, QI team, microsystem, or miscellaneous. QI team factors are QI team skill, decision making, tenure, diversity, leadership, and prior QI experience (Reed et al., 2018). This model can be used to support the research questions as team HIV clinic leader's involvement in QI teams, QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and QI team skill are listed in this model as influencers of the success of the QI team. I focused this study on leadership and the QI team category.

One of the strengths of MUSIQ is that it provides specific definitions for each factor. MUSIQ defines the microsystem QI leadership factor as the extent of skill and involvement of microsystem leaders in the QI project (Kaplan et al., 2012). QI skill is a measure of the use of QI competencies to change the microsystem processes (Kaplan et al., 2012). QI diversity is a measure of how diverse the QI team members are in relation to professional backgrounds, personality, motivation, and perspective (Kaplan et al.,

2012). QI team functionality is part of the definition of QI success in the music model. QI success measured in this model is the implementation of changes in processes and systems, and an associated improvement in the outcome of interest (Reed et al., 2018). Inactive teams are excluded from MUSIQ (Kaplan et al., 2012). These definitions make it easier to compare different studies on similar factors.

MUSIQ provides a much-needed framework to understand the mechanics of QI. Earlier studies on contextual factors influencing QI did not have uniform definitions for the factors measured and were not embedded in a practical framework (Kaplan, et al., 2010; Kaplan et al., 2012; Kaplan et al., 2013; Reed et al., 2018). I address this gap using MUSIQ. After the development of MUSIQ in 2012, several studies have been conducted and analyzed using MUSIQ. A New Zealand study applying the MUSIQ model found factors at the microsystem level, reflecting highly functional teamwork, are responsible for success in improvement in healthcare (Wilson et al, 2018). MUSIQ was also applied to understand contextual factors that improve the success of independent verification visits performed by NHS to hospitals in England (Griffin et al., 2017). This qualitative study found that team diversity, knowledge exchange, and timely visits improved the effect of these independent verification visits (Griffin et al., 2017). In a qualitative analysis, Soghier and Short (2019) compared high and low performing neonatal intensive care units (NICUs) in the United States using MUSIQ and identified several factors including leadership involvement, team diversity, and QI skill of the team as factors responsible for high performance. Applying MUSIQ to independent validation visits introduced the importance of family and patient engagement while introducing it to lowincome settings introduced the value of political governance (Eboreime et al., 2017). MUSIQ has been used widely because of its multiple benefits.

MUSIQ is a robust framework. The same contextual factors broadly categorized as factors relating to the team, microsystem, macrosystem, and external environment have been found to support success in QI in multiple high, middle, and low-income settings (Adams et al., 2018; Barson et al., 2017; Eboreime et al., 2018; Zapata-Vanegas & Saturno-Hernández, 2018). Results are mostly self-reported and involve interviews with people involved in QI (Barson et al., 2017; Eboreime et al., 2017). The model identifies QI team factors as an independent set of factors affecting team success. Since this study used secondary data and not self-reported data, it presented an opportunity to test for associations between the success of a QI team, and the specific contextual factors of leadership involvement in QI, QI team skill, and QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and QI team success in Uganda.

Literature Review

HIV in Uganda

In the world, an estimated 37.9 million people are living with HIV, the virus responsible for the AIDS (WHO, 2018). Two-thirds of these people with HIV are found in Africa (WHO, 2018). The HIV prevalence in adults in Uganda in15–64 years old is 6.2%, and in children, 0–14 years is 0.5% (PEPFAR, 2019). Within adults, this prevalence is higher in women (7.6%) than in men (4.7%) (PEPFAR, 2019). Within females, this prevalence is higher in urban women (9.8%) than in rural women (6.7%) (PEPFAR, 2019). Uganda had 1,400,000 million people with HIV in 2018, translating

into 1,200,000 adults and 95,000 children (PEPFAR, 2019; UNAIDS 2020). In the same year, there were 53,000 new HIV infections (UNAIDS, 2020). The Uganda AIDS Control Program (ACP), Uganda AIDS Commission (UAC), United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR) Uganda, and Uganda president's fast track initiative are some of the major efforts through which stakeholders have responded to this epidemic in Uganda through the years. As a result, the country has celebrated successes like reduction in mortality due to HIV by 58% between 2010 and 2018 from 56,000 deaths per year to 23,000 deaths per year, and in the same period, reduction in new infections from 92,000 to 53,000 per year (UNAIDS 2020). The country now has a nationwide HIV program through which all Ugandans can access free HIV testing, free care and treatment for those found positive, and free HIV prevention support for those found negative.

Anti-Retroviral Therapy

Although there is currently no cure for HIV, its effects have been minimized by antiretrovirals (ARVs), administered as ART to people with HIV. ART has prevented about 9.5 million deaths worldwide between 1995 and 2015 and accrued a total of 1.05 trillion U.S. dollars in economic benefits in the same period (Forsythe et al., 2019). At the patient level, the longer a person is on ART, the lower the chances of developing opportunistic infections due to HIV (Yen et al., 2019). However, ART introduces drug-specific side effects, the burden of taking daily pills, the cost and inconvenience of accessing healthcare regularly, and the possibility of developing drug resistance, necessitating switch to second-line drugs (Abbas et al., 2019; Moosa et al., 2019).

Uganda needs to invest more in viral load suppression because of an increase in opportunistic infections, despite increasing knowledge of HIV status and increased number of people on ART over the last 10 year period from 2006 to 2016 (Flynn et al., 2017). Over the years, the ART regimen recommended in Uganda by ACP has changed to improve outcomes, minimize side effects, and prevent resistance. For example, in September 2018, first-line ART was changed to a dolutegravir (DTG) based regimen for adults, from a regimen containing a group of drugs collectively called non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) (MoH, 2018). This change was made because DTG based regimen were found to be more potent, less susceptible to drug resistance, better tolerated, and of lower cost than the other regimen (Phillips et al., 2019; WHO, 2019). To affect this and other changes, the MoH released new guidelines for the prevention and treatment of HIV in 2018 (MoH 2018a). This was followed by nationwide training and supply chain support to the health care providers. All people identified with HIV in Uganda are eligible for ART to effectively reduce their morbidity and mortality.

Viral Load Suppression

Poor viral load suppression is a current gap in HIV programming in sub-Saharan Africa (Nasuuna et al., 2018; Yotebieng et al., 2019). In Uganda and similar countries, for public health purposes, a patient with HIV has a suppressed viral load if the count is less than 1000 copies of the virus per milliliter of their blood (Kiweewa et al., 2018; MoH, 2018; WHO, 2016). The goal of ART is to achieve and maintain viral load suppression, which prevents progression and transmission of the disease. In Uganda, 64% of people with HIV have suppressed viral load (UNAIDS, 2020). This is below the
UNAIDS target to have 73% of people with HIV with suppressed viral load by 2020 (UNAIDS, 2020). The country needs to close this gap.

Despite the low social-economic status of the country, it is possible for patients on ART to achieve viral load suppression within Uganda's health system through streamlined service delivery models (Dolling et al., 2017; Kwarisiima et al., 2017). Several researchers have associated young age, poor adherence to ART, active tuberculosis (TB), high viral load at initial test, recent fever, female sex, and delays in switching patients with virological failure with poor viral load suppression in Uganda, amd effective ART, long duration on ART, male sex, community service delivery models, and early initiation on ART with good viral load suppression (Bulage et al., 2017; Barnabas et al, 2020; Diress et al., 2020; Kiweewa et al., 2019; Musinguzi et al., 2017; Natukunda et al., 2019; Namale et al., 2019; Ssempijja et al., 2017). Specific populations in Uganda like mobile fisher folks and men who have sex with men are vulnerable to poor viral load suppression (Hladik et al., 2017; Omooja et al., 2019). Although the literature has identified multiple patient factors associated with poor viral load suppression, not much has been done to identify contextual health system factors that contribute to poor viral load suppression in Uganda.

Bermudez et al (2018) demonstrated that economic strengthening improved viral load suppression ten-fold in adolescents living with HIV in Uganda. Economic strengthening in this study referred to an intervention to support saving at the family level to build capital to start an income-generating activity. Economically stronger families were able to address the problem of paying for transport to the HIV clinic or drug pick up point to pick ART monthly (Bermudez et al., 2018). Appointment keeping improved drug adherence, which improved viral load suppression (Bermudez et al., 2018) A communitybased test-and-treat intervention which facilitated linkage to care for positives, and subsequent follow-up support achieved 89.5% viral load suppression for people with HIV within 2 years, up from a baseline of 40% at diagnosis (Peterson et al., 2017). A randomized controlled trial in Uganda did not show any benefit of providing financial incentives to patients to improve viral load suppression (Thirumurthy et al., 2019). In these studies, in Uganda, it takes over two years for patients' viral load to reach undetectable levels (Peterson et al., 2017; Ssebunya et al., 2017)

Viral load monitoring guidelines in Uganda recommend a viral load test for all adults with HIV six months after they start treatment, 12 months after they start treatment, and annually subsequently if suppressed (MoH, 2018). Children, adolescents, pregnant, and lactating mothers get viral load tests every 6 months if suppressed (MoH, 2018). Patients with an unsuppressed viral load will get a viral load test after recommended interventions (MoH, 2018). Specifying when to do viral load tests is important at the public health level to minimize testing at points when the patient is expected to have a poor viral load. For example, newly identified HIV positive patients are not tested for viral load until they complete six months on ART. Instead, such patients are managed and tested after the intervention has been completed. Samples are sent to the government Central Public Health Laboratories (CPHL) and results returned to patients through an elaborate transport and hub system that crisscrosses the country (MoH, 2018). Viral load tests are prescribed by the attending clinician and done at no cost to the patient.

Intensive Adherence Counseling

Problems with adherence to ART are the most common reason for poor viral load suppression (Fox et al., 2016; WHO, 2016). In a context where drug resistance testing is difficult, scalable interventions to improve adherence are a feasible approach to manage the problem of poor viral load suppression. A landmark systematic review of six retrospective and two prospective studies in eight high, middle, and low-income countries showed that 70 percent of unsuppressed patients on first-line ART re-suppressed after IAC (Bonner et al., 2013). Consequently, WHO's latest guidelines (2016) and Uganda's 2018 guidelines recommended IAC for unsuppressed patients (MoH, 2018a, WHO, 2016). According to the Ugandan national guidelines, adults and children with unsuppressed viral load should undergo intensive adherence counseling (MoH, 2018a). Intensive Adherence Counselling as an independent intervention has also effectively achieved viral load suppression for 64% percent of patients who were unsuppressed on second-line ART in South Africa (Fox et al., 2016). Patients who do not respond to IAC are switched to second or third-line ART to achieve viral load suppression (Fox et al., 2016; MoH, 2018a).

Children and adolescents face unique challenges and are less responsive to IAC than adults (Ford et al., 2019; Nasuuna et al., 2018). Thirty-seven Ugandan caregivers of unsuppressed children with HIV, through five focus group discussions, identified three areas of support needed to improve their children's adherence to ART and consequently

their lower their viral load: health system reforms like flexible clinic appointments outside school hours, better quality counseling, and no stock out of ART; psychosocial support like supported disclosure of child's HIV status; and economic strengthening to manage costs of food, school tuition, and travel to the clinic (Nasuuna et al., 2019). The Uganda national guidelines recommend an immediate switch to the second line ARVs for all unsuppressed children, with simultaneous IAC (MoH, 2019).

Clinics need to be re-organized to ensure all patients receive the appropriate response action following their viral load result. This level of re-organization is limited in low resource settings (Ford et al., 2019). This re-organization includes, for example, the creation of viremia clinics. These are special clinics for unsuppressed patients, where care is organized to ensure each patient receives the correct service at each visit, including IAC sessions. Researchers recommend the application of QI interventions to identify and close gaps in meticulous adherence to guidelines on the management of unsuppressed patients (Ford et al., 2019).

Leadership Involvement in Healthcare

Disconnection of leadership from the health care providers is one of the characteristics of healthcare organizations struggling in vain to improve performance (Vaughn et al., 2019). Leaders involved in healthcare present opportunities for staff to share problems and participate in solving these problems, while their leaders use their positions to contribute to the solutions (Sexton et al., 2018). There is evidence of the contribution of leadership involvement to improved health outcomes like reduction in the incidence of hospital-acquired infections, the success of indoor residual spraying and

mass drug administration for malaria prevention, and improvement in patients with dementia (Knobloch et al., 2018; McClung et al., 2017; Morgan et al., 2019; Wanzira et al., 2018). Leadership involvement has also resulted in improved clinic practices like the adoption of evidence-based practice in healthcare and changing from a physician-focused to a patient-focused service delivery model (Ariyo et al., 2019; Hijazi et al., 2018). However, leadership involvement in HIV work has mainly shown the added value of and opportunities presented by involving community leaders (De Neve et al., 2017; Gichuru et al., 2018; Lyatuu et al., 2018; Kalembo et al., 2018; Kamaara et al., 2019). Researchers have not extensively explored the value of involving clinic leaders in HIV prevention, care, and treatment. In this study, I will address the effect of involving healthcare leaders on the outcomes of HIV patients.

HIV Clinic Leaders

Leadership theories have evolved over the years from the idea of certain people being born leaders to theories that link different styles to success like transactional, transformational, and collaborative leadership (Ayeleke et al., 2018; Cummings et al., 2018). Situational leadership was also proposed as a theory that matches leadership styles, to specific contexts (Ayeleke et al., 2018). Such a situational leader would apply different leadership styles in different situations. Most recently, studies on healthcare leaders have extended beyond leadership style, to understand practices, competencies, and actionable factors influencing the success of a leader (Ayeleke et al., 2018; Cummings et al., 2018; Reed et al., 2018). This direction is helpful to guide training and other actions to support healthcare leaders like HIV clinic leaders, who are usually from a clinical background, to achieve their goals.

Leaders in healthcare like HIV clinic leaders usually perform both management and leadership roles including setting a vision, providing direction, motivating staff, planning, organizing, controlling, implementing, evaluating, and efficient use of resources (Ayeleke et al., 2018). These leaders face many challenges including human resource shortages and demotivation, continuously changing policies, and the need for higher quality healthcare at a lower cost (Figueroa et al., 2019). The HIV clinic leader in Uganda works in an environment of new technological innovations, health financing reforms, focus on cost-saving, a disconnect of resource allocation from demand, increasing community-based population-level service delivery models in place of clinicbased models, need for new cadres not part of the existing staffing norms like counselors and quality specialists, persistent bureaucracy, heavy focus on targets and less on quality, increasing intensity of work, changing district leaders, ill-defined roles, frequent need to delegate leadership roles to untrained and busy health care providers, need to perform the hybrid role of clinician and manager, and a myriad of expectations and interests from stakeholders which do not always match the clinic priorities (Costa et al., 2017; Figueoa et al., 2019; Lees, 2019; Spehar et al., 2017). These challenges can potentially result in overwhelmed HIV clinic leaders and staff who lack an understanding of the contextually appropriate actions needed to improve the health outcomes of patients with HIV (Hunter, 2017; Lee et al., 2019). In such an environment, research to identify actionable factors to improve clinic performance is important for HIV clinic leaders.

HIV clinic leaders can manage the challenges they face by running their clinics using different service delivery models (Mukumbang et al., 2017; Pathmanathan et al., 2017). Differentiated service delivery (DSD) is one such approach, which involves categorizing patients according to their preferences, aiming to maintain good outcomes while improving efficiency (MoH, 2018a). Patients only need to see an HIV clinician if they are categorized as unstable because they have been on ART for less than 12 months, are not virally suppressed, currently have or have a history of WHO stage 3 or 4 opportunistic infections in the past 12 months, are on third-line ART, have poor adherence, are in the intensive phase of TB treatment, or they have multidrug-resistant TB (MoH, 2018a; MoH, 2017). The rest pick drugs through community or facility drug distribution mechanisms that do not involve clinicians. This helps reduce the workload in settings with limitations in human resource, improves efficiency, and operationalizes patient-focused care (MoH, 2017; MoH, 2018a; Mukumbang et al., 2017; Pathmanathan et al., 2017). In addition to DSD, MoH recommends working with community structures to optimize the delivery of health services and integrating continuous QI into HIV care (MoH, 2018a). Multiple task shifting models also already exist in the country, differing by roles and responsibilities of medical officers, nurses, and lay health providers (Tsui et al., 2017).

Quality Improvement in Healthcare

The International Organization of Migration (IOM) defines quality of healthcare as the extent to which health services are organized to achieve health targets while applying updated professional knowledge (NASEM, 2018). This definition translates into several dimensions of quality of healthcare, including the effectiveness of health care, its efficiency, patient-centeredness, patient safety (medical errors), equity, and timeliness (NASEM, 2018). QI presents a systematic way to close gaps in the quality of healthcare by identifying the gap, understanding the root cause of the gap, testing solutions, and implementing what is learned at scale (Leis & Shojania, 2017). QI has been successfully applied in healthcare to improve all the dimensions of quality of health care including the effectiveness of health interventions like cancer screening interventions, patient experiences, the efficiency of support supervision, and patient safety (Bastemeijer et al., 2019; Coury et al., 2017; Knudsen et al., 2019; Manzanera et al., 2018; Renggli et al., 2017).

In Uganda, the application of QI started in the1990s with the creation of a quality assurance unit in MoH (Sweetser et al., 2019). This department, in conjunction with the respective technical units, has led the country to successes like the improvement in facility utilization and client satisfaction through the yellow star program, improvement in the quality of HIV outcomes through the HIV quality of care collaboratives, improvement in maternal and newborn health through the Saving Mothers Giving Lives (SMGL) program, and most recently the national QI initiative to improve HIV and tuberculosis outcomes (Karamagi et al., 2017; Karamagi et al., 2018; Sensalire et al., 2019; Sweetser et al., 2019). Consequently, there is precedence, skill, and buy-in for QI in Uganda. This is supported by the QI framework and strategic plan (QIF&S) that provides structure to QI in the country (MoH, 2016).

Quality Improvement in HIV Clinics in Uganda

Approximately ninety percent of the funds spent on the HIV response in Uganda is from external funders, and about 99.8% of this if from PEPFAR (PEPFAR, 2019). In 2018 alone, PEPFAR funding covered 94% (1,097,779 /1,165,562) of the people with HIV on ART in Uganda (PEPFAR, 2019). Other than the government of The Republic of Uganda, The Global Fund is the next major funder of the HIV response in Uganda (PEPFAR, 2019). PEPFAR prioritizes QI as a core approach in all the work they fund (PEPFAR, 2019). The HIV improvement priorities are directed by the ACP at the central MoH and may be from any performance gap along the spectrum of HIV prevention, care, and treatment in the country. Consequently, almost all HIV clinics in the country apply QI approaches to identify and close performance gaps in HIV care, including gaps in viral load suppression for people with HIV. Collaborative improvement approach is commonly applied in the country (MoH, 2016; Sensalire et al., 2019). This refers to a set of clinics working to close the same gap by applying QI approaches and knowledge management with the overall purpose of accelerating improvement in the prioritized area (Livesley et al., 2019; Rowland et al., 2018). Documented results of HIV clinic QI work in Uganda includes a reduction in mother to child transmission of HIV in Uganda from 17.2% to 1.5%, odds of increased CD4 cell count for HIV patients managed by CCM was 3.2 times higher than those not managed by the CCM; adherence to ART increased by 60% for patients managed using the CCM, dispensing practices for HIV drugs improved by 45%, and clinical wellness of HIV patients improved by 28% (Broughton et al., 2016; Byabagambi et al., 2017; Karamagi et al., 2017; Livesley et al., 2019).

The structures for QI in Uganda revolve around work improvement teams within each HIV clinic, supported by coaches from the district, regional and national levels (Broughton et al., 2018; Karamagi et al., 2017; Karamagi et al., 2018; MoH, 2016;). Work improvement teams are accountable for health care providers' QI, and accountable to coordination structures prescribed by the QIF&S, which include district, regional, and national QI coordination committees (Broughton et al., 2018; Lunsford et al., 2017; MoH, 2016). PEPFAR implementing partners play a significant role in engaging the work improvement teams and other QI structures to drive improvement efforts to meet targets within deadlines dictated by their project scope and work plans (Broughton et al., 2018; PEPFAR, 2019).

Quality Improvement Teams

The research on QI leans heavily towards evaluations of QI as an intervention, and not the mechanics of the discipline. QI teams are a group of people involved in the different steps in the process of care that makes up the prioritized performance gap (IHI, 2020; Rowland et al., 2018). The QI team (or work improvement team in Uganda) includes a team leader, who may or may not be the clinic leader, a team secretary, team members with technical expertise, and a team sponsor (Algurén et al., 2019; IHI, 2020). Where the clinic leader is the QI team leader, one of the team members needs to take on the role of championing the activities of the QI team on a day-to-day basis (Algurén et al., 2019; IHI 2020). The team leader is responsible for calling and chairing team meetings, the team secretary is responsible for recording meeting minutes and collecting data for the improvement aim, the team members participate in team meetings and drive the activities of the team, and the team sponsor addresses issues of the QI team at the executive level (IHI, 2020). The team meets regularly to agree on an improvement priority for their unit, stated as an improvement aim, agree on the indicator they will use to monitor progress, use QI tools to pinpoint the root cause of the performance gap, come up with changes in their process and system to close the gap, implement changes that work at scale, and update the documentation journal (IHI, 2020; MoH, 2016). Over time, the activities of the QI teams are expected to lead to improved performance.

QI team diversity. While QI team diversity is prescribed for the success of QI teams (IHI 2020), research demonstrating its value is scarce. Rowland et al. (2018) therefore recommend research to understand the value of team diversity. The added value of a diverse team is important considering the complications of bringing together multiple professionals and people from different units (Rowland et al., 2018). In addition to difficulties in agreeing on time for team activities, different units have different dynamics which may hinder cross-unit collaboration. Although Engels, Gullickson, Hamoda, Kim, and Schiff (2019) demonstrated the success of one multidisciplinary team, there was no comparison to teams that were not multidisciplinary. Ersson et al. (2018) reported improved performance in the intensive care unit (ICU) using a 3-pronged QI intervention. The intervention included increasing the professions represented on the ICU team (Ersson et al., 2018). While this study demonstrated the value of team diversity in general, the authors did not describe the membership of the QI team, therefore it is not possible to tell if the QI team is as diverse as the ICU team (Ersson et al., 2018). In Uganda, with the context of limited resources, leadership challenges, and fragmented

service delivery, we need to know if QI team diversity is necessary to improve performance.

Two categories of leaders are expected on the QI team: the unit leader, and the day-to-day leader who drives the activities of the team. In addition to these two, the engagement of an executive leader as the QI project sponsor is recommended, but not as a team member (IHI, 2020). This study is about the unit leader. QI projects documented in literature have been implemented with and without the involvement of the unit leader (Algurén et al., 2019). These are mainly descriptive studies, which do not test for an association between the involvement of the unit leader and the success of the QI team.

QI team skill. QI skill is needed by all people in healthcare, as the need for efficient excellence increases (Worsley et al., 2016). People in healthcare are increasingly expected to perform both their professional role and the role of closing gaps in healthcare (Worsely et al., 2016). As such, QI training is now mandated for medical professionals in the USA (Massagli et al., 2018). In Uganda, although QI is not yet integrated into preservice training, post-graduate training in QI is available as part of the master's in health services research (MUSPH, n.d.). In addition, QI collaboratives and initiatives in the country incorporate a coaching structure to enable hands-on QI training of health care providers and QI teams by the coaches (Broughton et al., 2018). This is important to translate classroom training into practice. The skills needed for QI may be soft skills like change management, project management, and communication skills, or hard skills like the root cause analysis and the use of time series chart (Weggelaar-Jansen & van Wijngaarden, 2018). For example, the ability to draw a time series chart correctly is a core skill included in tools to assess QI skill (Doupnik et al., 2017). Strong QI skill builds health workers' self-efficacy (Tweed & Gilbert, 2018). Studies on QI skill have focused on the effectiveness of training, and not on the association between QI skill and improvement in performance. This study will understand whether a lack of QI skill affects performance in Uganda.

QI team functionality. QI team functionality is a reflection of how active the team is. Specifically, a team's ability to continuously test and implement changes (Costa et al., 2019; Harvey & Lynch, 2017; Parchman et al., 2019). In literature, multiple terms have been used to refer to team functionality, including team capacity, sustained continuous QI, sustainable continuous improvement, lean management implementation, implementation of system and process changes (Costa et al., 2019; Gaiardelli et al., 2019; Harvey & Lynch, 2017; Parchman et al., 2019; Reed et al., 2019; Gaiardelli et al., 2019; Harvey & Lynch, 2017; Parchman et al., 2019; Reed et al., 2018). Team functionality is more associated with some clinic quality measures like prior experience managing change than others like few clinicians (Parchman et al., 2019). While a dysfunctional QI team does not achieve its aim, functionality without other team attributes and contextual factors may not result in improvement (Rowland et al., 2018). This study therefore designed to understand the interaction between team functionality and some contextual factors (leadership involvement, QI team diversity, and QI team skill).

Summary and Conclusions

There are 1.4 million Ugandans living with HIV (UNAIDS, 2020). Although HIV related deaths have gone down by 56% over the years, the country still faces unacceptable gaps in the HIV program. Only 64% of Ugandans with HIV have

suppressed viral load, way below the UNAIDS target of 73% by 2020 (UNAIDS 2010). MoH in Uganda released revised guidelines to address these gaps, including change of first-line ART to DTG based regimen, and detailed instructions on the management of unsuppressed patients, including IAC and the application of QI methods to increase fidelity to the guidelines (MoH, 2018a). Uganda has extensive experience applying QI methods in HIV and other areas (Broughton et al., 2016; Broughton et al., 2018; Byabagambi et al., 2017; Karamagi et al., 2017; Livesley et al, 2019; Lunsford et al., 2017; Ssensalire et al., 2019). Although there are demonstrations of success as a result of involving healthcare leaders in care, their added value in QI for HIV is not known (Knobloch, et al., 2018; McClung et al., 2017; Morgan et al., 2019; Wanzira et al., 2018;). Leadership involvement is important for HIV clinics in Uganda because of the complexity of managing the challenges faced by HIV clinics in the country through the delivery of recommended service delivery models to improve patient outcomes (Figueoa et al., 2019; Costa et al., 2017; Lees, 2019; MoH 2017; MoH 2018a; Mukumbang et al., 2017; Pathmanathan et al., 2017; Spehar et al., 2017). In addition, the literature on QI focuses heavily on the effectiveness of the QI projects as interventions, and not the mechanics of the discipline. The dynamics of QI teams is one microsystem level category of factors responsible for the success or failure of QI teams in MUSIQ (Kaplan et al., 2012). While the MUSIQ is a robust model applying in many settings, there is a gap in the literature on the association between specific factors like QI team diversity, team skill, team functionality, and QI team success in Uganda and similar settings. Even in high-income settings, studies applying MUSIQ and the factors within have been selfreported, descriptive, or qualitative. In the next chapter, I will explain the research methodology used for this study.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this cross-sectional, quantitative study was to determine whether there was a significant association between HIV clinic leader involvement in QI teams, QI team functionality, QI team diversity, QI team skill, and HIV viral load suppression rates in Uganda. In this chapter, I provide details of the rationale for this design, selection of study participants, methodology, data analysis plan using logistic regression, and threats to validity.

Research Design and Rationale

This was a cross-sectional quantitative study. I selected the cross-sectional design because the research is determining associations, and not causation, between the dependent and independent variables. Cross-sectional design is best suited for studies to compare different variables at a point in time (Creswell & Creswell, 2017; Elmore et al., 2020). In this study, I determined the association between independent and dependent variables at a point in time. The study did not involve an intervention, it was time-bound, and did not imply that the viral load suppression of the study participants was caused by the involvement of leaders, team skill, team diversity, or team functionality. The results can inform stakeholders on whether there is an association between viral load suppression and involvement of leaders, team skill, team diversity, and team functionality in Uganda. Viral load suppression was the dependent variable. Leadership involvement in QI, QI team diversity, QI team skill, and QI team functionality were independent variables. Patient age, patient sex, health facility type were control variables. I conducted this study using cross-sectional design faster than a prospective design would have taken and with fewer resources than a randomized controlled trial design would have taken. Since I was a self-funded PhD student, time and resources were constraints. While QI science is widely applied in Uganda (Karamagi et al., 2017; Karamagi et al., 2018; Sensalire et al., 2019; Sweetser et al., 2019), there is no systematic study of the relationship between contextual QI factors like leadership involvement, QI skill, QI diversity, and viral load suppression.

Methodology

Population

I targeted people with HIV, on ART, with an unsuppressed viral load result. I targeted this population because the MoH has been implementing a nationwide QI initiative in Uganda. This initiative started in January 2019 to improve adherence to new national guidelines to manage unsuppressed patients in Uganda. There are 1,400,000 people with HIV in Uganda (PEPFAR, 2019; UNAIDS 2020). Of the people with HIV in Uganda, 84% know their HIV status, 72% are on treatment with ART, and 64% of these have achieved viral load suppression (UNAIDS 2020). This means that approximately 1,176,000 people with HIV know their HIV status, 1,008,000 people are on ART (85.7% of those who know their status are on ART), and 896,000 people are virally suppressed (88.8% of people on ART are virally suppressed; UNAIDS 2020). This translates into a target population of approximately 112,000 people in Uganda on ART who are virally unsuppressed.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

I calculated the sample size using an effect size of 1.3 for logistic regression, power of 0.9, and an alpha level of 0.05. Using G*Power 3.1.9.2 (Faul et al., 2009). A minimum sample size of 783 was needed for this study. A power of 0.9 meant the probability of committing a type II error is 10% (Lipsey & Aiken, 1990). Type II error is not rejecting a null hypothesis when it is false (Lipsey & Aiken, 1990). Alpha (or significance) level means the probability of rejecting a null hypothesis when the null hypothesis is true (Lipsey & Aiken, 1990). Alpha level of 0.05 is usually used (Lipsey & Aiken, 1990). This means there is a 5% probability of stating that there is a statistically significant difference yet there is none (Lipsey & Aiken, 1990). I calculated the effect size using the odds ratio. This was appropriate because the dependent variable was categorical (Lipsey & Aiken, 1990). An effect size of 1.3 was reasonable considering that other similar studies have found higher odds ratios for predictors of viral load suppression in Uganda (Bulage et al., 2017). Assuming 20% of the patients will have missing data, the minimum sample size was increased by 20% from 783 to 939 patients.

I used multistage sampling to efficiently select at least 939 patient's representative of the 112,000 unsuppressed patients in the country. Three of the 12 regions were covered in this study to make the data collection process affordable. To ensure the 939 patients were representative of the country, the three regions were randomly selected. Within the three regions, six clinics with 53 or more unsuppressed patients were randomly selected to ensure at least 939 patients were included. All patients from the selected clinics who were unsuppressed in January 2019 were included in the

study. A total of 18 HIV clinics in three regions in Uganda were included in the study. Patients with missing data were excluded.

Data Collection

I conducted the study using secondary data. Data on viral load suppression was from the unsuppressed register in the HIV clinics of the 18 sampled clinics. A data abstractor transferred the data from existing tools at each health facility and emailed a completed data abstraction tool to me. At each health facility, the abstractor reviewed the register to identify patients who had an unsuppressed viral load in January 2019. Because all patients in the HIV clinic receive a viral load test once a year, the abstractor reviewed the register from January to December 2018 to identify patients who received an unsuppressed result. The abstractor reviewed the records of those with unsuppressed results from 2018 to determine if they had a more recent suppressed result. Those who had an unsuppressed result in 2018 and suppressed before January 2019 were excluded. The abstractor also excluded those with no viral load record between January 2019 and October 2019 and included all the rest. In addition to their viral load suppression data, they abstracted data on age, sex, and facility type for each patient.

The abstractor collected data on leadership involvement, team skill, team diversity, and team functionality from the QI documentation journal kept by each health facility. The abstractor excluded health facilities without QI journals from the study. To access the data, I sought permission from the MoH, and each hospital head. Data were collected from the unsuppressed register and the documentation journal using a data abstraction tool.

Operationalization of Variables

This study had eight variables. Viral load suppression was the dependent variable measured in copies per milliliter. It was categorical with two levels: suppressed or unsuppressed. A person has an unsuppressed viral load if they have 1000 or more copies of the virus per milliliter of blood. A person has a suppressed viral load if they have less than 1000 copies of the virus per milliliter of blood. Unsuppressed was coded zero, suppressed was coded one.

Leadership involvement in QI, an independent variable, was categorical with two levels: yes or no. Leadership referred to the HIV clinic leader, not the QI team leader, and not the leader of the health facility. An HIV clinic leader was involved in QI if they were a member of the QI team. I coded yes as one and no as zero.

QI team diversity was an independent variable. It was continuous and measured as full numbers from one to infinity. QI team diversity was the number of different professions or job titles represented on the QI team.

QI team skill was an independent variable. It was continuous and measured as full numbers from one to infinity. QI team skill was the number of correctly filled components of the documentation journal. A correctly filled journal had a correctly stated improvement aim, indicator, team members, root cause analysis, time series chart, and changes tested.

QI team functionality, a covariate variable, was a categorical variable with two levels: high or low. Teams with high functionality had tested four or more changes to improve viral load suppression. Teams with low team functionality had tested less than four changes to improve viral load suppression. Four was chosen as the cut-off because the teams received four rounds of physical coaching from external coaches. During each coaching visit, teams are supported to come up with a new change. QI team functionality was documented in the documentation journal. I coded high team functionality one, and low team functionality zero.

I controlled for patient sex, and therefore analyzed it as an independent variable in binary logistic regression. It was categorical with two levels: male or female. I coded male zero, and female one.

I also controlled for patient age, which I therefore analyzed as an independent variable in binary logistic regression. Age was a continuous variable in full numbers from one to infinity.

Health facility type was the third variable controlled for in the study. I also analyzed it as an independent variable. Health facility type was a categorical variable with two levels: private or government. I coded private zero and government one.

Table 1

Operationalization of the Variables

Variable name	Variable type	Summary data	Possible data point	
		point		
HIV clinic leader's	Nominal	Yes or No	Yes	
involvement in QI				
team				
QI team diversity	Continuous	1 to infinity	3	
(continuous)				
QI team skill	Continuous	1 to infinity	3	
(continuous)				
Team functionality	Categorical	High or low	High	
Viral load	Nominal	Suppressed or	Suppressed	
suppression		unsuppressed		
Patient sex	Categorical	Male or female	Male	
Patient age	Continuous	1 to infinity	10	
Health facility type	Categorical	Private or	Private	
		government		

Data Analysis Plan

I cleaned and analyzed all the data of this study. The analysis was done using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) version 25. Data cleaning was done using two techniques: double entry and the use of queries. The data from the data abstraction tools sent to me were entered twice into excel, mismatch in the two databases identified, and corrected from the primary abstraction tools. I added queries to identify missing data, inconsistencies, and outliers to the database. When found, I reviewed primary data abstraction tools, and made appropriate corrections. Data curation from the 18 health facilities included in the study was done in Excel, transferred to SPSS, and set up for binary logistic regression analysis.

The research questions were:

RQ1: Is there a significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type?

 H_01 : There is no significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

 H_a1 : There is a significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

RQ2: Is there a significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type?

 H_0): There is no significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

 H_a 2: There is a significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

RQ3: Is there a significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type?

 H_0 3: There is no significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

 H_a 3: There is a significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

I analyzed and presented data using frequencies for the viral load suppression leadership involvement, patient sex, and health facility type data, and mean and standard deviation for the QI diversity, QI skill, QI functionality, and patient age data. To test for the associations in the three research questions, I used binary logistic regression because the dependent variable was categorical with two levels. Parchman et al (2019) showed that QI team functionality led to improved outcomes, and therefore I included it as a covariate. It was necessary to understand how it relates to viral load suppression and QI team skill, QI team diversity, and leadership involvement. Also, researchers have shown that sex, age, and facility type are predictors of viral load suppression (Bulage et al., 2017; Barnabas et al, 2020; Diress et al., 2020; Kiweewa et al., 2019; Musinguzi et al., 2017; Natukunda et al., 2019; Namale et al., 2019; Ssempijja et al., 2017). Interpretation of results from the logistic regression analysis was done using odds ratio and significance level. I used a significance level of 0.05 or less to determine statistically significance and reject the null hypothesis.

Threats to Validity

External Validity

External validity is a threat when results are generalized to settings, time, or people not covered by the study (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The study was designed to be generalizable to people with HIV accessing care and treatment in Uganda, who have an unsuppressed viral load, regardless of sex, age, and health facility type. To ensure this, I used random sampling in two stages to select the patients to be included. Although missing data was expected, I mitigated it by working with a large sample size of 2,758 patients. A large sample size mitigates the effect of the missing data (Lipsey & Aiken, 1990). In order to achieve a high power of 0.9, I needed a sample size of at least 783. Recommendations for further study include the same study in a different location, or at a different time, or with participants whose viral load is suppressed.

Internal Validity

Internal validity poses a threat when the inferences drawn from the study may not be accurate (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). In this study, this may have been due to the selection of study participants with a pattern of bias, participants with missing data, or the presence of unknown confounders (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). According to Creswell & Creswell (2017), these can be minimized by applying random sampling, and the use of a large sample size. I used random sampling and a large sample size for this study. Known and unknown confounders were an important threat to the internal validity of this study. Known confounders can be controlled for by including them in the model at the analysis stage, while unknown confounders can be minimized by the random selection of study participants (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). I controlled for confounders identified during the study (patient age, patient sex, and health facility type) by including them in the model at the analysis stage. Unknown confounders were minimized by the randomized selection of study participants. Since this was a cross-sectional study, threats to validity due to changes over time, differences in experimental and control groups, and loss to follow-up were not expected. An inherent weakness of cross-sectional studies is that people who die or are lost to follow up before the study are automatically excluded (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Specific to this study, all people who were unsuppressed in January 2019 but died or were lost to follow up before July 1, 2019 were excluded from the cross-sectional analysis. A large sample size was used to compensate for them.

Construct Validity

Construct validity is a threat if the power is inadequate, or assumptions of the statistical test are violated (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The power of this study is 0.9 for an effect size of 1.3 and an alpha level of 0.05. The power is less than 0.9 whenever the effect size is less than 1.3 yet statistically significant. However, power of 0.8 is also adequate (Lipsey & Aiken, 1990). I used logistic regression analysis. Logistic regression analysis has assumptions including a dichotomous dependent variable, linear relationship between the logit of the dependent variable and each independent variable (linearity), there are no outliers in the continuous independent variables, and there is little or no correlation between the independent variables (multicollinearity) (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). According to Creswell and Creswell (2017) and Laerd Statistics (2017), linearity can be assessed for using the Box Tidwell approach, influential outliers using case diagnostics in SPSS, and multicollinearity by analyzing the variance inflation factor (vif) statistic generated by collinearity diagnostics in SPSS. I conducted these tests for assumptions and where assumptions were not met, the data was adjusted to ensure the analysis was conducted with data that meets all assumptions.

Ethical Procedures

I received Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval from Walden University (IRB # 05-06-20-0443331) and The AIDS Support Organization (TASO) IRB (TASOREC/037/2020-UG-REC009) in Uganda. The Uganda National Council of Science and Technology also approved the study (# HS686ES). I signed data agreement forms with the 18 participating health facilities whose data was used in this study. Since the study used secondary data, there were no ethical concerns relating to speaking to study participants. No patient identifiers were shared so that the data remained anonymous. Data was collected using data abstraction tools, which were always locked. Electronic databases containing the study data was password protected. Data will be destroyed after 5 years. No other ethical issues applied to this study.

Summary

This was a quantitative cross-sectional study. A sample of at least 939 unsuppressed patients from 18 HIV clinics spread across three regions in Uganda was included in the study. I analyzed data using logistic regression to determine the association between HIV viral load suppression and team functionality, team skill, team diversity, and leadership involvement in QI, after controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type. In chapter 4, I present the results of this study.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this cross-sectional, quantitative study was to determine whether there was a significant association between HIV clinic leader involvement in QI teams, QI team functionality, QI team diversity, QI team skill, and HIV viral load suppression rates in Uganda. The study had three research questions:

RQ1: Is there a significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type?

 H_01 : There is no significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

 H_a 1: There is a significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

RQ2: Is there a significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type?

 H_02 : There is no significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type. H_a 2: There is a significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

RQ3: Is there a significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type?

 H_0 3: There is no significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

 H_a 3: There is a significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type.

In this chapter, I present the data collection, present the results, and summarize the chapter.

Data Collection

The 18 health facilities participating in this study emailed password protected completed data abstraction tools containing the secondary data from health management information system tools. This data abstraction process took about 1 month. In addition to the unsuppressed register and documentation journals used as data sources, some of the data were from patient files and the health facility monthly staff attendance list.

I used multistage probability sampling was used to identify 18 clinics with at least 53 unsuppressed patients to get the minimum sample size of 939 patients. Because all patients at each of these clinics were included, the final dataset included 2,758 patients. SPSS excluded the 294 patients with missing data on viral load suppression leaving 2,464 patients included in the analysis. There are approximately 112,000 unsuppressed HIV positive patients in Uganda (UNAIDS 2020). I used the data to make conclusions about all these unsuppressed HIV positive patients in Uganda.

Results

The sample had eight variables. Viral load suppression had data for 2,464 patients, while all the other variables had data for 2,758 patients. Tables 2 and 3 include the descriptive data for each continuous and categorical variable, respectively. I analyzed viral load suppression, sex, team functionality, leadership involvement, and health facility type as categorical variables (Table 3). Team functionality was originally a continuous variable which I changed to a categorical variable because it did not meet the assumption of linearity. I analyzed age as a continuous variable measured in years, team skill as a continuous variable measured in number of skills, and team diversity as a continuous variable measured in number of professionals on the QI team.

Table 2

Variable (units)	Mean	Standard deviation	Min	Max
Patient age (years)	33.55	16.182	1	87
QI team diversity (number of professionals)	5.54	1.355	3	9
QI team skill (number of skills)	17.41	3.276	8	23

Descriptive Statistics of Continuous Variables

Table 3

Descriptive Statistics of Categorical Variables

Variable	Categories	Code	Frequency (percent of the total			
	CureBonnes	0000				
			for the variable)			
Viral load suppression	Unsuppressed	0	812 (29.4 %%)			
	Suppressed	1	1,652 (59.9%)			
Sex	Male	0	1,121 (40.6%)			
	Female	1	1,637 (59.4%)			
Team functionality	Low	0	1,895 (68.7%)			
	High	1	863 (31.3%)			
TT 1.1 0 111	D 1	0				
Health facility type	Private	0	770 (27.9%)			
	Government	1	1,988 (72.1%)			
Leadership involvement	No	0	1 644 (50 60/)			
	NO	0	1,044 (39.0%)			
	Yes	1	1,114 (40.4%)			

Evaluation of Statistical Assumptions for Binary Logistic Regression

The first four assumptions for binary logistic regression were met. The data met Assumption one for binary logistic regression, which requires a dichotomous dependent variable (Laerd Statistics, 2017). The dichotomous dependent variable was viral load suppression. A patient was either suppressed or unsuppressed. The data also met assumption two for binary logistic regression which requires continuous or nominal independent variables. Each research question had five independent and control variables. The independent and control variables for RQ1 were leadership involvement, team functionality, age, sex, and health facility type. The independent and control variables for RQ2 were team diversity, team functionality, age, sex, and health facility type. The independent and control variables for RQ3 were team skill, team functionality, age, sex, and health facility type. The data met assumption three. Assumption three requires independence of observations and all categorical variables to be mutually exclusive and exhaustive (Laerd Statistics, 2017). The data had independence of observations, with 2,758 participants, each only counted once. The categories of viral load suppression, leadership involvement, sex, and health facility level were mutually exclusive and exhaustive. All patients in the study either had a suppressed or unsuppressed viral load suppression. Patients who were lost, died, or transferred out were treated as missing data because their viral load suppression was not known by the participating health facility. All patients in the study either had leaders involved (categorized as yes) or leaders not involved (categorized as no) in the QI work of the health facility where they accessed care. All patients in the study were either male or female. Finally, each patient either belonged or did not belong to each health facility type. I categorized health facility type data categorized as private for patients from a private health facility, or government for patients from a government health facility. Assumption 4 that requires at least 50 cases per independent variable was met (Laerd Statistics, 2017). There were 2,758 cases with data on leadership involvement, sex, age, team functionality, team diversity, team skill, and health facility type.

Assumption 5 required a linear relationship between the continuous independent variables and the logit transformation of viral load suppression (Laerd Statistics, 2017).

This is the assumption of linearity. I used the Box Tidwell approach to test the data for (age, team functionality, team diversity, and team skill for this assumption. The Box Tidwell approach requires a Bonferroni correction using all the terms included in the model (Box & Tidwell, 1962; Fox, 2016; Guerrero & Johnson, 1982; Tabachnick & Fidell, 2014). The cut-off for statistical significance changed from 0.05 to 0.005556 after applying a Bonferroni correction using the nine terms in the model Team skill, team diversity, and age were linearly related to the logit of viral load suppression. Team functionality did not meet this assumption because the *p*-value was less than 0.005556. To correct for this, I converted team functionality to a categorical variable.

The data met assumption 6 and 7. Assumption 6 required that independent variables are not highly correlated with each other. This is multicollinearity. This assumption was met because the variance inflation factor (VIF) for all the independent variables ranged from 1.014 for sex to 2.477 for health facility type, with an average VIF of 1.711. VIF less than 10 means the assumption of multicollinearity is met (Laerd Statistics, 2017). Assumption 7 required that the data did not have any unusual points, that is, outliers, leverage, or influential points (Laerd Statistics, 2017). The test for unusual points using case diagnostics in SPSS did not identify any outliers. The data met the assumption on outliers.

Statistical Analysis by Research Question

RQ1: Is there a significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for health facility type, patient age, and patient sex? H_01 : There is no significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling health facility type, patient age, and patient sex.

 H_a1 : There is a significant association between HIV clinic leader's involvement in the QI team, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for health facility type, patient age, and patient sex.

RQ1 was answered using binomial logistic regression to test for an association between viral load suppression, leadership involvement, and team functionality, controlling for age, sex, and health facility type. The model was statistically significant at $\chi^2(2,464) = 78.821, p < .001$. The model explained 4.4% (Nagelkerke R^2) of the variance in viral load suppression and correctly classified 67.1% of cases. Table 4 shows that all five of the independent and control variables were statistically significant. Increasing age was associated with an increased likelihood of the viral load being suppressed, males had a 1.234 times higher likelihood of being suppressed than females, patients accessing care from private facilities were 2.783 times more likely to be suppressed than patients accessing care from government facilities, patients accessing care from clinics where leaders were involved in the QI teamwork were 1.366 times more likely to be suppressed than patients accessing care from clinics where leaders are not involved in the QI team, and patients accessing care from clinics with high team functionality were 1.393 times more likely to be suppressed than patients accessing care from clinics with low team functionality.

Table 4

							95% C.I.for EXP(B)		
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper	
Age	.010	.003	14.247	1	.000	1.010	1.005	1.015	
Sex	.210	.089	5.538	1	.019	1.234	1.036	1.470	
Facility type	1.024	.131	60.893	1	.000	2.783	2.152	3.599	
Team functionality	.331	.108	9.376	1	.002	1.393	1.127	1.722	
Leadership	.312	.110	8.042	1	.005	1.366	1.101	1.695	
involvement									
Constant	876	.225	15.124	1	.000	.417			
	0					0			

RQ1: Variables in the Equation

Reference categories: sex = female, Facility type = public, team functionality = low,

leadership involvement = no

RQ 2: Is there a significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for health facility type, patient age, and patient sex?

 H_02 : There is no significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for health facility type, patient age, and patient sex.

 H_a 2: There is a significant association between QI team diversity, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for health facility type, patient age, and patient sex.

RQ2 was answered using binomial logistic regression to test for an association between viral load suppression, team diversity by profession, and team functionality, controlling for age, sex, and health facility type. The model was statistically significant at
χ^2 (2,464) = 70.833, p < .001. The model explained 3.9% (Nagelkerke R^2) of the variance in viral load suppression and correctly classified 67.2% of cases. Table 5 shows that four of the five independent and control variables were statistically significant. Increasing age was associated with an increased likelihood of the viral load being suppressed, males had a 1.210 times higher likelihood of being suppressed than females, patients accessing care from private facilities were 2.232 times more likely to be suppressed than patients accessing care from government facilities, and patients accessing care from clinics with high team functionality were 1.293 times more likely to be suppressed than patients accessing care from clinics with low team functionality.

Table 5

							95% C.I.for EXP(B)	
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Age	.010	.003	13.040	1	.000	1.010	1.004	1.015
Sex	.191	.089	4.623	1	.032	1.210	1.017	1.441
Facility type	.803	.110	52.973	1	.000	2.232	1.798	2.771
Team functionality	.257	.115	5.018	1	.025	1.293	1.033	1.619
Team diversity	013	.034	.141	1	.707	.987	.923	1.056
Constant	386	.300	1.648	1	.199	.680		

RQ2: Variables in the Equation

Reference categories: sex = female, Facility type = government, team functionality = low

RQ3: Is there a significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for health facility type, patient age, and patient sex?

 H_03 : There is no significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for health facility type, patient age, and patient sex.

 H_a 3: There is a significant association between QI team skill, QI team functionality, and HIV viral load suppression in HIV clinics in Uganda, controlling for health facility type, patient age, and patient sex.

RQ3 was answered using binary logistic regression to test for an association between viral load suppression, team skill, and team functionality, controlling for age, sex, and health facility type. The model was statistically significant at χ^2 (2,464) = 71.874, *p* < .001. The model explained 4.0% (Nagelkerke *R*²) of the variance in viral load suppression and correctly classified 67.1% of cases. Table 6 shows that four of the five independent and control variables were statistically significant. Increasing age was associated with an increased likelihood of the viral load being suppressed, males had a 1.212 times higher likelihood of being suppressed than females, patients accessing care from private facilities were 2.239 times more likely to be suppressed than patients accessing care from government facilities, and patients accessing care from clinics with high team functionality were 1.386 times more likely to be suppressed than patients accessing care from clinics with low team functionality.

Table 6

							95% C.I.for	
							EXP(B)	
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Age	.010	.003	13.602	1	.000	1.010	1.005	1.015
Sex	.192	.089	4.664	1	.031	1.212	1.018	1.442
Facility type	.806	.107	56.806	1	.000	2.239	1.816	2.761
Team functionality	.326	.117	7.835	1	.005	1.386	1.103	1.742
Team skill	016	.015	1.181	1	.277	.984	.955	1.013
Constant	230	.287	.642	1	.423	.795		

RQ3: Variables in the Equation

Reference categories: sex = female, Facility type = government, team functionality = low

Summary

This cross-sectional quantitative study includes secondary data from 18 participating health facilities in Uganda. The results of this study showed that there was a significant association between HIV viral load suppression, team functionality, and leadership involvement in HIV clinics in Uganda, after controlling for sex, age, and type of health facility. There was also a significant association between HIV viral load suppression, team functionality, and team diversity in HIV clinics in Uganda, after controlling for sex, age, and type of health facility. Finally, there was a significant association between HIV viral load suppression, team functionality, and team skill in HIV clinics in Uganda, after controlling for sex, age, and type of health facility. In chapter 5, I will include an interpretation of findings, limitations, significance, and recommendations for future research. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The purpose of this cross-sectional, quantitative study was to determine whether there is a significant association between HIV clinic leader involvement in QI teams, QI team functionality, QI team diversity, QI team skill, and HIV viral load suppression rates in Uganda. Recent studies on predictors of viral load suppression in Uganda and other countries showed that the clinic managing a patient on ART is significantly associated with the patients' viral load suppression (Kiweewa et al., 2019). In this study, I focused on patients accessing care from ART clinics participating in a national QI initiative, looking for associations between different QI team characteristics and patient viral load suppression 6 or more months after QI was started. The QI team characteristics I studied were team functionality, leadership involvement in QI team meetings, team skill, and team diversity. Key findings of this study were that the model consisting of leadership involvement in QI, team functionality, patient age, patient sex, and facility type (government or private) predicts viral load suppression (χ^2 [2,464] = 78.821, p>0.01); the model consisting of team diversity, team functionality, age, sex, and facility type predicts viral load suppression (χ^2 [2,464] = 70.833, p>0.01); and the model consisting of team skill, team functionality, age, sex, and facility type predicts viral load suppression (χ^2 [2,464] = 71.874, p > 0.01).

Interpretation of the Findings

Several patient-level characteristics are now known predictors of viral load suppression. These include patient age, adherence to ART, infections like TB, duration

on ART, time of initiation on ART, time of switching ART regimen for patients with virological failure, and belonging to specific populations like fisher folks (Bulage et al., 2017; Kiweewa et al., 2019; Musinguzi et al., 2017; Namale et al., 2019; Natukunda et al., 2019; Omooja et al., 2019; Ssempijja et al., 2017). In this study, I focused on understanding QI team characteristics as structural factors associated with viral load suppression while controlling for patient factors. I used the CCM in the conceptual framework of this study. The CCM hypothesizes that patient outcomes are affected by structural factors like organization characteristics and support from the leaders (Kadu & Stolee, 2015; Wagner et al., 1999). The CCM has been successfully applied in Uganda to improve outcomes of patients with HIV (Broughton et al., 2016). Although the authors of this Ugandan study used CD4 to measure the wellness of people with HIV, the findings are comparable to a study that measures HIV patient wellness using viral load suppression. Overall, viral load suppression was significantly associated with leadership involvement, after controlling for patient age, patient sex, health facility type, and team functionality (p < 0.01). Viral load suppression was also significantly associated with team functionality after controlling for leadership involvement patient age, patient sex, health facility type, and team functionality (p < 0.01). These findings are important because many interventions to improve viral load suppression are applied at the health system level (MoH 2017; MoH, 2018a; MoH, 2019).

Unlike other studies on QI that have focused more on evaluating QI as an intervention, this study is about the mechanics of a QI team. In this study, I found that leadership involvement improves viral load suppression. Patients accessing care from

clinics where leaders were involved in the QI teamwork were 1.366 (p < 0.01) times more likely to be suppressed than patients accessing care from clinics where leaders were not involved in the QI teamwork. Other researchers have also found that involving leaders improves patient outcomes like reduction in the incidence of hospital-acquired infections, the success of indoor residual spraying and mass drug administration for malaria prevention, and improvement in patients with dementia (Hijazi et al., 2018; Kaplan et al., 2013; Knobloch et al., 2018; McClung et al., 2017; Morgan et al., 2019; Wanzira et al., 2018). These findings have mostly been based on qualitative studies and health worker self-reported surveys on the value of health facility leadership. Lyatuu et al. (2018) used a controlled quantitative study to show that the involvement of community leaders significantly improves outcomes, including HIV couple testing. The findings on the potential of involving HIV clinic leaders on QI teams to improve outcomes of their patients are in line with these previous studies.

One of the models in the conceptual framework, the MUSIQ, hypothesizes that microsystem leaders, HIV clinic leaders, in this case, contribute to the success of the QI team depending on their knowledge and skill of the science of improvement and the extent of their involvement in the QI efforts (Kaplan et al., 2012). Microsystem leaders like HIV clinic leaders on QI teams have the position power needed to support decision making, problem-solving, and making changes (IHI 2020). The microsystem leader is not necessarily the person leading the day-to-day activities of the QI team since their busy schedule may affect the success of the team. However, the involvement of the microsystem leader on a QI team is associated with success. QI initiatives in Uganda and similar settings should therefore intentionally keep microsystem leaders engaged in the QI work either through involvement in team meetings or other meaningful ways.

Team functionality in this study is a measure of how active a team is, evidenced by the number of changes tested or implemented to improve viral load suppression for people with unsuppressed results in January 2019. Studies on the association between team functionality and patient outcomes have been inconclusive. Parchman et al. (2019) included assessment for the presence of a regular QI process in their QI capacity assessment tool (QICA) and found a moderate association with two of the three outcomes measured, and no association with the third. As shared in the results section, team functionality was a significant contributor to the association between leadership involvement, team functionality, and viral load suppression, controlling for age, sex, and facility type. In this model, patients accessing care from clinics with high team functionality were 1.393 times more likely to be suppressed than patients accessing care from clinics with low team functionality (p > 0.01). Team functionality was also a significant contributor to the two other models analyzed in this study. Interviews of staff from 71 nursing homes found that change in QI is influenced by several factors like the magnitude and complexity of the change, presence or absence of leadership support, adequate knowledge and skill, and getting early positive results (Tappen et al., 2017). Consequently, while change is necessary for improvement, not all changes lead to improvement (Rowland et al., 2018). Therefore, for team functionality to improve outcomes, its interaction with other factors, including QI team characteristics, need to be considered.

Team diversity is another QI team characteristic I studied in this dissertation. Team diversity in this study refers to the number of professions represented on the QI team, including laboratory professionals, nurses, community health workers, counsellors, and administrators. While the effect of team diversity on patient outcomes has not been studied much, the few studies found did not consistently find a statistically significant association between team diversity and the patient outcome. Kaplan et al. (2013) found that QI teams indirectly associated diversity with improved team success, although this association was not statistically significant. Other studies have found improvement in outcomes when diverse teams apply QI (Engels et al., 2019; Ersson et al., 2018). However, these studies did not compare the diverse team to control sites and did not isolate team diversity to measure its effect on team success but instead documented the success of a comprehensive intervention that included a multidisciplinary team. This study, therefore, presents additional information that team diversity did not contribute to the statistically significant association with viral load suppression when combined with team functionality, age, sex, and facility type into one model. While diversity, in general, may be a good thing, it interacts with other factors like team tenure, team skill, and team QI experience (Kaplan et al., 2013). In addition, Rowland et al. (2018) explained the challenges diverse teams face, including failing to meet because of different time schedules across departments, different priorities, and different team dynamics. This suggests that diverse teams need time and intentional action to build tenure, skill, and experience before they benefit from diversity.

Team skill has mostly been studied as an increase in knowledge and skill after a training. Doupnik et al. (2017) found that after conducting such trainings, participants had better knowledge and skill than they did before the training. This shows that the training approach is effective but does not provide information on whether the patient outcomes will improve after the training. Other studies show improvement in patient outcomes when intervention packages include skill-building activities like didactic QI trainings or QI skills (Broughton et al., 2018). This research added the team skill score to the model to check for an association with viral load suppression. While the model was significantly associated with the outcome, team skill did not contribute to this association. Referring to the MUSIQ model, team skill is one of the team characteristics that can potentially influence patient outcomes (Kaplan et al., 2012). QI skills may be soft skills like change management, project management, and communication skills, or hard skills like the root cause analysis and the use of time series chart (Weggelaar-Jansen & van Wijngaarden, 2018). In the MUSIQ model, team skill refers to the ability to apply QI science to test changes, implying that it includes both soft and hard QI skills (Kaplan et al., 2013). In this study, team skill referred to the number of correctly filled components of the documentation journal, a proxy measure of hard skills, like other tools used to measure hard QI team skill (Doupnik et al., 2017). With their broader definition, Kaplan et al. (2013) found a statistically significant association between team skill and two of the three team success measures used, based on their survey of individuals participating in 74 QI teams. This implies that soft skills like change management, project management, and

communication may play an important role in translating QI team trainings into improved patient outcomes.

Limitations of the Study

The use of a large sample size and random sampling of regions and health facilities included in the study improved its internal and external validity. The study can be generalized to HIV patients with unsuppressed viral load, accessing care from HIV clinics in Uganda and settings similar to Uganda. This study was not designed to measure the effect of each QI team characteristic in isolation. This is because the data is secondary and from real-life settings. It is difficult to have controlled studies or time-series studies to measure the effect of these QI team characteristics because, in practice, they are implemented together with multiple other interventions to improve team performance (Mery et al., 2017). This makes it hard to isolate the effect of one team characteristic on the success of the team. Studies, therefore, use focus group discussions or self-reporting questionnaires to capture the views of the stakeholders on the effect of the different team characteristics on patient outcomes. These studies also have the limitation of potential over or underestimation, or incomparable understanding of the team's performance due to lack of a vision of what can be achieved (Mery et al., 2017).

Recommendations

Overall, the findings of this study are that QI team characteristics can influence viral load suppression in Uganda. One of my recommendations for future researchers is to use other study designs that can qualify and quantify the added value of each team characteristic. Where possible, interventions to improve each team characteristic should be implemented, tested, and compared to control sites. It is hard to find associations between health process and system factors and patient outcomes. This may be because these associations are indirect. I recommend study designs that can explain the interactions between the different internal and external factors affecting team success in Uganda and similar settings. Considering that microsystem leaders may be too busy to participate in meetings and other QI activities, there is a need for further research on innovations to successfully engage them in QI work in Uganda and similar settings. The effect of team diversity on viral load suppression should also be studied for teams that have been working together for longer periods. The teams in this study had only worked together for 6 to 12 months. This may not have been enough time to build tenure and start performing as diverse teams. Finally, studies on team skill need to differentiate the soft and hard team skills. Future studies to understand how the soft and hard team skills independently contribute to patient outcomes will be useful for Uganda and similar countries.

Implications

Social change includes efforts for new ideas to improve individuals, their communities, cultures, and the institutions structuring their lives (Walden University, 2020). Specifically, Walden University (2020) describes positive social change as intentional. It involves improving the lives of people, their communities, and society through action. In Uganda and elsewhere, the current QI culture focuses more on the presence or absence of improved outcomes and less on the mechanics of QI teams. I designed this study to stimulate interest in understanding the characteristics of QI teams, and consequent deliberate investment in improving those that are associated with the success of the QI work. The study has the potential to influence the way the MoH guides QI work in the country, and the type of QI activities funded by development partners like USAID.

This study also impacts social change because it provides information to improve healthcare delivery for people diagnosed with HIV, especially in resource-limited settings. HIV care and treatment work in Uganda and other sub-Saharan African countries where HIV is most prevalent is heavily funded by PEPFAR and Global Fund (Banigbe et al., 2019). As this research adds evidence to the literature on the association between context and patient outcomes, these funders can adjust their funding amounts, scopes, and expectations based on context and not only numbers.

The recommendation for practice is QI teams in resource-limited settings should intentionally improve the engagement of microsystem leaders to improve patient outcomes. In addition, considering that functional teams perform better than nonfunctional teams, HIV clinics in resource-limited settings should work on the mechanics of their QI teams to improve their functionality, and consequently improve patient outcomes.

Conclusion

The involvement of microsystem leaders and high functionality of QI teams improved patient outcomes in Uganda and similar settings. While patient factors like patient age, patient numbers, and patient sex are important, they interact with context factors like leadership. These real-world interactions need to be understood to maximize investments and have the best outcomes for patients. QI team characteristics need to be considered and studied when designing and implementing QI projects in resource-limited settings. In this study, leadership involvement and team functionality improved patient outcomes after controlling for patient age, patient sex, and health facility type, while team diversity and team skill did not. More studies are needed to understand how all the team characteristics interact with each other, with patient factors, and with other factors external to the team to improve patient outcomes in resource-limited settings.

References

Abbas, U. L., Glaubius, R. L., Ding, Y., & Hood, G. (2019). Drug resistance from preferred antiretroviral regimens for HIV infection in South Africa: A modeling study. *PloS One*, *14*(7), e0218649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218649</u>

Adams, D., Hine, V., Bucior, H., Foster, W., Mukombe, N., Ryan, J., Smirthwaite, S., Winfield, J. (2018). Quality improvement collaborative: A novel approach to improve infection prevention and control. Perceptions of lead infection prevention nurses who participated. *Journal of Infection Prevention*, 19(2), 64-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1757177417726154</u>

- Algurén, B., Nordin, A., Andersson–Gäre, B., & Peterson, A. (2019). In–depth comparison of two quality improvement collaboratives from different healthcare areas based on registry data—possible factors contributing to sustained improvement in outcomes beyond the project time. *Implementation Science*, *14*(1), 74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-019-0926-y</u>
- Ariyo, P., Zayed, B., Riese, V., Anton, B., Latif, A., Kilpatrick, C., Allegranzi, B.,
 Berenholtz, S. (2019). Implementation strategies to reduce surgical site infections:
 A systematic review. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology*, 1–14.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/ice.2018.355
- Ayeleke, R. O., Dunham, A., North, N., & Wallis, K. (2018). The concept of leadership in the health care sector. *Leadership*, 83. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.76133

Banigbe, B., Audet, C. M., Okonkwo, P., Arije, O. O., Bassi, E., Clouse, K., Simmons, M., Aliyu, M. H., Freedberg, K. A., & Ahonkhai, A. A. (2019). Effect of PEPFAR funding policy change on HIV service delivery in a large HIV care and treatment network in Nigeria. *PloS One*, *14*(9), e0221809. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0221809

Barnabas, R. V., Szpiro, A. A., van Rooyen, H., Asiimwe, S., Pillay, D., Ware, N. C., Schaafsma, T, T., Krows, M, L., van Heerden, A., Joseph, P., Shahmanesh, M., Wyatt, M, A., Sausi, K., Turyamureeba, B., Sithole, N., Morrison, S., Shapiro, A, E., Roberts, D, A., Thomas, K, K., ... Delivery Optimization of Antiretroviral Therapy (DO ART) Study Team. (2020). Community-based antiretroviral therapy versus standard clinic-based services for HIV in South Africa and Uganda (DO ART): A randomised trial. *The Lancet Global Health*, 8(10), e1305-e1315. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(20)30313-2

- Barson, S., Doolan-Noble, F., Gray, J., & Gauld, R. (2017). Healthcare leaders' views on successful quality improvement initiatives and context. *Journal of Health* Organization and Management, 31(1), 54–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-10-2016-0191</u>
- Bastemeijer, C. M., Boosman, H., van Ewijk, H., Verweij, L. M., Voogt, L., & Hazelzet, J. A. (2019). Patient experiences: A systematic review of quality improvement interventions in a hospital setting. *Patient Related Outcome Measures*, 10, 157. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/PROM.S201737</u>.

Bermudez, L. G., Ssewamala, F. M., Neilands, T. B., Lu, L., Jennings, L.,

Nakigozi, G., ... Mukasa, M. (2018). Does economic strengthening improve viral suppression among adolescents living with HIV? Results from a cluster randomized trial in Uganda. *AIDS and Behavior*, 22(11), 3763–3772. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2173-7

- Bonner, K., Mezochow, A., Roberts, T., Ford, N., & Cohn, J. (2013). Viral load monitoring as a tool to reinforce adherence: A systematic review. *JAIDS Journal* of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, 64(1), 74–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.0b013e31829f05ac</u>
- Box, G. E. P., & Tidwell, P. W. (1962). Transformation of the independent variables. *Technometrics*, 4, 531–550. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00401706.1962.10490038</u>
- Broughton, E. I., Karamagi, E., Kigonya, A., Lawino, A., Marquez, L., Lunsford, S. S., & Twinomugisha, A. (2018). The cost-effectiveness of three methods of disseminating information to improve medical male circumcision in Uganda. *PloS One*, *13*(4), e0195691. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0195691</u>
- Broughton, E. I., Muhire, M., Karamagi, E., & Kisamba, H. (2016). Cost-effectiveness of implementing the chronic care model for HIV care in Uganda. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 28(6), 802–807.

https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzw116

Bulage, L., Ssewanyana, I., Nankabirwa, V., Nsubuga, F., Kihembo, C., Pande, G., Ario,A, R., Matovu, J, K, B., Wanyenze, R., & Kiyaga, C. (2017). Factors associated

with virological non-suppression among HIV-positive patients on antiretroviral therapy in Uganda, August 2014–July 2015. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *17*(1), 326. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2428-3

- Byabagambi, J. B., Broughton, E., Heltebeitel, S., Wuliji, T., & Karamagi, E. (2017).
 Assessment of a quality improvement intervention to strengthen pharmaceutical human resources and improve availability and use of HIV medicines in Uganda. *BMJ Open Quality*, 6(2), e000194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjoq-2017-000194</u>
- Byabagambi, J. B., Broughton, E., Heltebeitel, S., Wuliji, T., & Karamagi, E. (2017).
 Assessment of a quality improvement intervention to strengthen pharmaceutical human resources and improve availability and use of HIV medicines in Uganda. *BMJ Open Quality*, 6(2), e000194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjoq-2017-000194</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2019). *HIV treatment as prevention*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/risk/art/index.html</u>
- Costa, F., Lispi, L., Staudacher, A. P., Rossini, M., Kundu, K., & Cifone, F. D. (2019).
 How to foster sustainable continuous improvement: A cause-effect relations map of Lean soft practices. *Operations Research Perspectives*, 6, 100091.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orp.2018.100091
- Costa, L. B. M., Filho, M. G., Rentes, A. F., Bertani, T. M., & Mardegan, R. (2017).
 Lean healthcare in developing countries: Evidence from Brazilian hospitals. *The International Journal of Health Planning and Management*, 32(1), e99-e120.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/hpm.2331

- Coury, J., Schneider, J. L., Rivelli, J. S., Petrik, A. F., Seibel, E., D'Agostini, B., Taplin, S, H., Green, B, B., Coronado, G. D. (2017). Applying the plan-do-study-act (PDSA) approach to a large pragmatic study involving safety net clinics. *BMC Health Services Research*, 17(1), 411. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2364-3</u>
- Coyle, Y. M., & Battles, J. M. (1999). Using antecedents of medical care to develop valid quality of care measures. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 11(1), 5–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/11.1.5</u>
- Cramm, J. M., & Nieboer, A. P. (2014). Short and long term improvements in quality of chronic care delivery predict program sustainability. *Social Science & Medicine*, 101, 148–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.11.035
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Cummings, G. G., Tate, K., Lee, S., Wong, C. A., Paananen, T., Micaroni, S. P., &
 Chatterjee, G. E. (2018). Leadership styles and outcome patterns for the nursing workforce and work environment: A systematic review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 85, 19–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2009.08.006</u>
- Davy, C., Bleasel, J., Liu, H., Tchan, M., Ponniah, S., & Brown, A. (2015). Effectiveness of chronic care models: Opportunities for improving healthcare practice and health outcomes: A systematic review. *BMC Health Services Research*, *15*(1), 194. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-0854-8
- De Neve, J. W., Garrison-Desany, H., Andrews, K. G., Sharara, N., Boudreaux, C., Gill, R., Geldsetzer, P., Vaikath., M., Bärnighausen, T., & Bossert, T. J. (2017).

Harmonization of community health worker programs for HIV: A four-country qualitative study in Southern Africa. *PLoS Medicine*, *14*(8), e1002374. https://doi.org/0.1371/journal.pmed.1002374

Diress, G., Dagne, S., Alemnew, B., Adane, S., & Addisu, A. (2020). Viral load suppression after enhanced adherence counseling and its predictors among high viral load HIV seropositive people in North Wollo Zone Public Hospitals, Northeast Ethiopia, 2019: Retrospective Cohort Study. *AIDS Research and Treatment*, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8909232

- Dolling, D. I., Goodall, R. L., Chirara, M., Hakim, J., Nkurunziza, P., Munderi, P., Eram, D., Tumukunde, D., Spyer, M, J., Gilks, C, F., Kaleebu, P., Dunn, D, T., Pillary, D., DART Virology Group (2017). The virological durability of first-line ART among HIV-positive adult patients in resource limited settings without virological monitoring: A retrospective analysis of DART trial data. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *17*(1), 160. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1002374</u>
- Donabedian, A. (1988). The quality of care: How can it be assessed? *The Journal of American Medical Association (JAMA)*, 260(12), 1743–1748. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1988.03410120089033

Doupnik, S. K., Ziniel, S. I., Glissmeyer, E. W., & Moses, J. M. (2017). Validity and reliability of a tool to assess quality improvement knowledge and skills in pediatrics residents. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 9(1), 79–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-15-00799.1</u>

- Eboreime, E. A., Nxumalo, N., Ramaswamy, R., & Eyles, J. (2018). Strengthening decentralized primary healthcare planning in Nigeria using a quality improvement model: How contexts and actors affect implementation. *Health Policy and Planning*, 33(6), 715–728. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czy042</u>
- Elmore, J, G., Wild, D, M, G., Nelson, H, D., & Katz, D, L. (2020). Jekel's
 Epidemiology, Biostatistics, Preventive Medicine, and Public Health Fifth edition.
 Elsevier Health Sciences.
- Engels, R., Gullickson, C., Hamoda, R., Kim, J, J., Schiff, J. (2019). Providing linguistically competent care for refugee patients in Clarkston, Georgia: An interprofessional quality improvement team initiative. *American Journal of Medical Quality*, 34(4), 414–414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1062860619843289</u>
- Ersson, A., Beckman, A., Jarl, J., & Borell, J. (2018). Effects of a multifaceted intervention QI program to improve ICU performance. *BMC Health Services Research*, *18*(1), 838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3648-y</u>
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, 41, 1149–1160. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149</u>
- Figueroa, C. A., Harrison, R., Chauhan, A., & Meyer, L. (2019). Priorities and challenges for health leadership and workforce management globally: A rapid review. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 239. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4080-7
- Flynn, A. G., Meya, D. B., Hullsiek, K. H., Rhein, J., Williams, D. A., Musubire, A., Morawski, B, M., Taseera, K., Sadiq, A., Ndyatunga, L., Roediger, M.,

Rajasingham, R., Bohjanen, P, R., Muzoora, C., Boulware, D, R. (2017). Evolving failures in the delivery of human immunodeficiency virus care: Lessons from a Ugandan meningitis cohort 2006–2016. In *Open Forum Infectious Diseases* (Vol. 4, No. 2, p. ofx077). US: Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofx077

Ford, N., Orrell, C., Shubber, Z., Apollo, T., & Vojnov, L. (2019). HIV viral resuppression following an elevated viral load: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 22(11). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jia2.25415</u>

Forsythe, S. S., McGreevey, W., Whiteside, A., Shah, M., Cohen, J., Hecht, R.,
Bollinger, L, A., Kinghorn, A. (2019). Twenty years of antiretroviral therapy for
people living with HIV: Global costs, health achievements, economic benefits. *Health Affairs*, 38(7), 1163–1172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05391</u>

- Fox, M. P., Berhanu, R., Steegen, K., Firnhaber, C., Ive, P., Spencer, D., Mashamaite, S., Sheik, Sadiyya., Jonker, I., Howell, P., Long, L., Evans, D. (2016). Intensive adherence counselling for HIV-infected individuals failing second-line antiretroviral therapy in Johannesburg, South Africa. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 21(9), 1131–1137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12741</u>
- Fulop, N. J., & Ramsay, A. I. (2019). How organisations contribute to improving the quality of healthcare. *BMJ*, 365, 11773. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.11773</u>

- Gaiardelli, P., Resta, B., & Dotti, S. (2019). Exploring the role of human factors in lean management. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, 10(1), 339–366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLSS-08-2017-0094</u>
- Gichuru, E., Kombo, B., Mumba, N., Sariola, S., Sanders, E. J., & van der Elst, E. M.
 (2018). Engaging religious leaders to support HIV prevention and care for gays, bisexual men, and other men who have sex with men in coastal Kenya. *Critical Public Health*, 28(3), 294–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09581596.2018.1447647</u>
- Griffin, A., McKeown, A., Viney, R., Rich, A., Welland, T., Gafson, I., & Woolf, K. (2017). Revalidation and quality assurance: The application of the MUSIQ framework in independent verification visits to healthcare organisations. *BMJ Open*, 7(2), e014121. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014121</u>
- Guerrero, V. M., & Johnson, R. A. (1982). Use of the Box-Cox transformation with binary response models. *Biometrika*, 69(2), 309–314.

https://doi.org/10.2333/bhmk.13.19_17

- Harvey, G., & Lynch, E. (2017). Enabling continuous quality improvement in practice: the role and contribution of facilitation. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 5, 27. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00027
- Hijazi, H. H., Harvey, H. L., Alyahya, M. S., Alshraideh, H. A., Al Abdi, R. M., & Parahoo, S. K. (2018). The impact of applying quality management practices on patient centeredness in Jordanian public hospitals: Results of predictive modeling. *INQUIRY: The Journal of Health Care Organization, Provision, and Financing*, 55. https://doi.org/10.1177/0046958018754739

Hladik, W., Sande, E., Berry, M., Ganafa, S., Kiyingi, H., Kusiima, J., & Hakim, A.
(2017). Men who have sex with men in Kampala, Uganda: Results from a biobehavioral respondent driven sampling survey. *AIDS and Behavior*, 21(5), 1478– 1490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-016-1535-2</u>

Hunter, D. (2017). The system leadership challenge facing the primary healthcare workforce. *European Journal of Public Health*, 27(suppl_3). https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckx187.772

- Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI). (2020). Science of improvement: Forming the team. How to improve. <u>http://www.ihi.org/resources/Pages/HowtoImprove/ScienceofImprovementFormi</u> <u>ngtheTeam.aspx</u>
- Jacelon, C. S., Furman, E., Rea, A., Macdonald, B., & Donoghue, L. C. (2011). Creating a professional practice model for postacute care: Adapting the Chronic Care Model for long-term care. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *37*(3), 53–60.
 Https://doi.org/10.3928/00989134-20100831-02
- Joint United Nations Programme on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS). (2020). *Country: Uganda*. <u>https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/uganda</u>
- Kadu, M. K., & Stolee, P. (2015). Facilitators and barriers of implementing the chronic care model in primary care: A systematic review. *BMC Family Practice*, 16(1),

12. <u>https://doi.org/1186/s12875-014-0219-0</u>

Kalembo, F. W., Kendall, G. E., Ali, M., Chimwaza, A. F., & Tallon, M. M. (2018). Primary caregivers, healthcare workers, teachers and community leaders' perceptions and experiences of their involvement, practice, and challenges of disclosure of HIV status to children living with HIV in Malawi: A qualitative study. *BMC Public Health*, *18*(1), 884. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5820-</u>

Z

- Kamaara, E., Oketch, D., Chesire, I., Coats, C. S., Thomas, G., Ransome, Y., Willie, T., & Nunn, A. (2019). Faith and healthcare providers' perspectives about enhancing HIV biomedical interventions in Western Kenya. *Global Public Health*, *14*(12), 1744–1756. https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2019.1647263
- Kaplan, H. C., Brady, P. W., Dritz, M. C., Hooper, D. K., Linam, W. M., Froehle, C. M., & Margolis, P. (2010). The influence of context on quality improvement success in health care: A systematic review of the literature. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 88(4), 500–559 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0009.2010.00611.x</u>
- Kaplan, H. C., Froehle, C. M., Cassedy, A., Provost, L. P., & Margolis, P. A. (2013). An exploratory analysis of the model for understanding success in quality. *Health Care Management Review*, 38(4), 325–338.

https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.0b013e3182689772

- Kaplan, H. C., Provost, L. P., Froehle, C. M., & Margolis, P. A. (2012). The model for understanding success in quality (MUSIQ): Building a theory of context in healthcare quality improvement. *BMJ Quality and Safety*, 21(1), 13–20. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2011-000010
- Karamagi, E., Nturo, J., Donggo, P., Kyobutungi, I., Aloyo, J., Sensalire, S., & Rahimzai,M. (2017). Using quality improvement to improve the utilisation of GeneXpert

testing at five lab hubs in Northern Uganda. *BMJ Open Quality*, 6(2), e000201. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjoq-2017-000201

- Karamagi, E., Sensalire, S., Muhire, M., Kisamba, H., Byabagambi, J., Rahimzai, M.,
 Mugabe, F., Upenytho, G., Calnan., J., & Birabwa, E. (2018). Improving TB case
 notification in northern Uganda: Evidence of a quality improvement-guided active
 case finding intervention. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 954.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3786-2
- Kiweewa, F., Esber, A., Musingye, E., Reed, D., Crowell, T. A., Cham, F., Semwogerere, M., Namagembe, R., Nambuya, A., Kafeero, C., Tindikahwa, A., Eller, L, A., Millard, M., Gelderblom, H, C., Keshinro, B., Adamu, Y., Maswai, J., Owuoth, J., Sing'oei, V, C., ... Tindikahwa, A. (2019). HIV virologic failure and its predictors among HIV-infected adults on antiretroviral therapy in the African cohort study. *PloS One*, *14*(2), e0211344.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0211344

Kiyaga, C., Narayan, V., McConnell, I., Elyanu, P., Kisaakye, L. N., Kekitiinwa, A.,
Price, M., Grosz, J. (2018). Retention outcomes and drivers of loss among HIVexposed and infected infants in Uganda: A retrospective cohort study. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 18(1), 416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-018-3275-6</u>

Knobloch, M. J., Chewning, B., Musuuza, J., Rees, S., Green, C., Patterson, E., & Safdar, N. (2018). Leadership rounds to reduce health care–associated infections. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 46(3), 303–310.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2017.08.045

- Knudsen, S. V., Laursen, H. V. B., Johnsen, S. P., Bartels, P. D., Ehlers, L. H., & Mainz, J. (2019). Can quality improvement improve the quality of care? A systematic review of reported effects and methodological rigor in plan-do-study-act projects. *BMC Health Services Research*, *19*(1), 683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4482-6</u>
- Koh, H. K., Brach, C., Harris, L. M., & Parchman, M. L. (2013). A proposed 'health literate care model' would constitute a systems approach to improving patients' engagement in care. *Health Affairs*, 32(2), 357–367.

https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1205

- Kwarisiima, D., Atukunda, M., Owaraganise, A., Chamie, G., Clark, T., Kabami, J., Jain, V., Byonanebye, D., Mwangwa, F., Balzer, L., Charlebois, E., Kamya, M, R., Petersen, M., Havlir, D., Brown, L, B. (2019). Hypertension control in integrated HIV and chronic disease clinics in Uganda in the SEARCH study. *BMC Public Health*, *19*(1), 511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-019-6838-6</u>
- Kwarisiima, D., Kamya, M. R., Owaraganise, A., Mwangwa, F., Byonanebye, D. M., Ayieko, J., Plenty, A., Black, D., Clark, T, D., Nzarubara, B., Snyman, K., Brown, L., Bukusi, E., Cohen, C, R., Geng, E, H., Charlebois, E, D., Ruel, T, D., Petersen, M, L., Haylir, D., Jain, V. (2017). High rates of viral suppression in adults and children with high CD4+ counts using a streamlined ART delivery model in the SEARCH trial in rural Uganda and Kenya. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 20 (Supplementary 4), 21673. https://doi.org/10.7448/IAS.20.5.21673

- Laerd Statistics (2017). Binomial logistic regression using SPSS Statistics. *Statistical tutorials and software guides*. <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/</u>
- Lebina, L., Alaba, O., Ringane, A., Hlongwane, K., Pule, P., Oni, T., & Kawonga, M. (2019). Process evaluation of implementation fidelity of the integrated chronic disease management model in two districts, South Africa. *BMC Health Services Research*, *19*(1), 965. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4785-7</u>
- Lee, E., Daugherty, J., & Hamelin, T. (2019). Reimagine health care leadership challenges and opportunities in the 21st century. *Journal of Peri Anesthesia Nursing*, 34(1), 27–38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopan.2017.11.007</u>
- Lees, P. (2019). Does your diagnostic and clinical expertise conflict with your leadership? *Diagnostic Histopathology*, 25(12), 471–473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nop2.150</u>
- Leis, J. A., & Shojania, K. G. (2017). A primer on PDSA: Executing plan–do–study–act cycles in practice, not just in name. *BMJ Quality and Safety*, 26(7), 572–577. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2016-006245
- Lipsey, M. W., & Aiken, L. S. (1990). *Design sensitivity: Statistical power for experimental research* (Vol. 19). Newbury Park, CA: Sage

Livesley, N., Coly, A., Karamagi, E., Nsubuga-Nyombi, T., Mwita, S. K., Ngonyani, M. M., Myungi J., Kinyua, K., Muange, P., Ismail, A., Quick, T., & Stern, A. (2019).
Reducing mother-to-child transmission of HIV using quality improvement approaches. *Journal of the International Association of Providers of AIDS Care (JIAPAC)*, 18. https://doi.org/10.1177/2325958219855631

Lunsford, S. S., Byabagambi, J., Falconer-Stout, Z., & Karamagi, E. (2017). Improving voluntary medical male circumcision standards adherence and post-procedure follow-up in Uganda: A mixed methods study. *African Journal of AIDS Research*, *16*(1), 39-46. https://doi.org/10.2989/16085906.2017.1293701

Lyatuu, G. W., Naburi, H., Urrio, R., Mwashemele, S. Z., Mdingi, S., Panga, R., Koda, H., Chende, Y., Mhalu, A., Siril, H., Lema, I, A., Aris, E., Muya, A, N., Galanti, M, R., Biberfeld, G., Kilewo, C., & Ekström, A, M (2018). Engaging community leaders to improve male partner participation in the prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HIV in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. *PloS One*, *13*(12), e0207986. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0207986

Mackey, K., Parchman, M. L., Leykum, L. K., Lanham, H. J., Noël, P. H., & Zeber, J. E. (2012). Impact of the chronic care model on medication adherence when patients perceive cost as a barrier. *Primary Care Diabetes*, 6(2), 137–142.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2011.12.004

- Makerere University School of Public Health (MUSPH). (n.d.). *Masters of health services research*. <u>http://www.musph.ac.ug/index.php/accordion-2/98-mhsr</u>
- Manzanera, R., Moya, D., Guilabert, M., Plana, M., Gálvez, G., Ortner, J., & Mira, J. (2018). Quality assurance and patient safety measures: A comparative longitudinal analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(8), 1568. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15081568</u>

Massagli, T. L., Zumsteg, J. M., & Osorio, M. B. (2018). Quality improvement education in residency training: A review. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 97(9), 673–678. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/PHM.000000000000947</u>

McClung, L., Obasi, C., Knobloch, M. J., & Safdar, N. (2017). Health care worker perspectives of their motivation to reduce health care–associated infections.
 American Journal of Infection Control, 45(10), 1064–1068.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2017.05.002

- Mery, G., Dobrow, M. J., Baker, G. R., Im, J., & Brown, A. (2017). Evaluating investment in quality improvement capacity building: A systematic review. *BMJ* open, 7(2), e012431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012431</u>
- Ministry of Health (MoH). (2016). *Health sector quality improvement framework and strategic plan 2015/16 – 2019/20.* Republic of Uganda.
- Ministry of Health (MoH). (2017). *Implementation guide for differentiated service delivery models of HIV services in Uganda*. (First edition). Republic of Uganda.
- Ministry of Health Uganda (MoH). (2018a). *Consolidated guidelines for prevention and treatment of HIV in Uganda*. (Second edition). Republic of Uganda.
- Ministry of Health Uganda (MoH). (2018b). *National health facility master list 2018: A complete list of all health facilities in Uganda*. (First edition). Republic of Uganda.
- Moosa, A., Gengiah, T. N., Lewis, L., & Naidoo, K. (2019). Long-term adherence to antiretroviral therapy in a South African adult patient cohort: A retrospective

study. BMC Infectious Diseases, 19(1), 775. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-4410-8

- Morgan, D., Kosteniuk, J., O'Connell, M. E., Kirk, A., Stewart, N. J., Seitz, D., Bayly,
 M., Chow, A, F., Elliot, V., Daku, J., Hack, T., Hoium, F., Kennett-Russill, D., &
 Sauter, K (2019). Barriers and facilitators to development and implementation of
 a rural primary health care intervention for dementia: A process evaluation. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 709. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4548-5
- Mukumbang, F. C., Van Belle, S., Marchal, B., & van Wyk, B. (2017). An exploration of group-based HIV/AIDS treatment and care models in Sub-Saharan Africa using a realist evaluation (Intervention-Context-Actor-Mechanism-Outcome) heuristic tool: A systematic review. *Implementation Science*, *12*(1), 107.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0638-0
- Musinguzi, N., Mocello, R. A., Boum, Y., Hunt, P. W., Martin, J. N., Haberer, J. E.,
 Bangsberh, D, R., Siedner, M. J. (2017). Duration of viral suppression and risk of
 rebound viremia with first-line antiretroviral therapy in rural Uganda. *AIDS and Behavior*, 21(6), 1735–1740. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-016-1447-1</u>
- Namale, G., Kamacooko, O., Bagiire, D., Mayanja, Y., Abaasa, A., Kilembe, W., Price, M., Ssemwanga, D., Lunkuse, S., Nanyonjo, M., Ssenyonga, W., Mayaud, P., Newton, R., Kaleebu, P., & Seeley, J (2019). Sustained virological response and drug resistance among female sex workers living with HIV on antiretroviral therapy in Kampala, Uganda: A cross-sectional study. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 95(6), 405–411. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/sextrans-2018-053854</u>

Nasuuna, E., Kigozi, J., Babirye, L., Muganzi, A., Sewankambo, N. K., &

Nakanjako, D. (2018). Low HIV viral suppression rates following the intensive adherence counseling (IAC) program for children and adolescents with viral failure in public health facilities in Uganda. *BMC Public Health*, *18*(1), 1048. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5964-x</u>

Nasuuna, E., Kigozi, J., Muwanguzi, P. A., Babirye, J., Kiwala, L., Muganzi, A.,
Sewankambo, N., & Nakanjako, D. (2019). Challenges faced by caregivers of
virally non-suppressed children on the intensive adherence counselling program
in Uganda: A qualitative study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 150.
https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-3963-y

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (NASEM). (2018). *Crossing the quality Chasm: The IOM health care quality initiative.* <u>http://nationalacademies.org/hmd/Global/News%20Announcements/Crossing-</u> the-Quality-Chasm-The-IOM-Health-Care-Quality-Initiative.aspx

- Natukunda, J., Kirabira, P., Ong, K. I. C., Shibanuma, A., & Jimba, M. (2019). Virologic failure in HIV-positive adolescents with perfect adherence in Uganda: A cross-sectional study. *Tropical Medicine and Health*, 47(1), 8.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s41182-019-0135-z
- Omooja, J., Nannyonjo, M., Sanyu, G., Nabirye, S. E., Nassolo, F., Lunkuse, S., Kapaata,
 A., Segujja, F., Kateete, D, P., Ssebaggala, E., Bbosa, N, Aling, E., Nsubuga, R,
 N., Kaleebu, P., & Ssemwanga, D (2019). Rates of HIV-1 virological suppression
 and patterns of acquired drug resistance among fisherfolk on first-line

antiretroviral therapy in Uganda. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 74(10), 3021–3029. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkz261

- Parchman, M. L., Anderson, M. L., Coleman, K., Michaels, L. A., Schuttner, L., Conway, C., Hsu, C., & Fagnan, L. J. (2019). Assessing quality improvement capacity in primary care practices. *BMC Family Practice*, 20(1), 103. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-019-1000-1
- Pathmanathan, I., Pevzner, E., Cavanaugh, J., & Nelson, L. (2017). Addressing tuberculosis in differentiated care provision for people living with HIV. *Bulletin* of the World Health Organization, 95(1), 3.
- Petersen, M., Balzer, L., Kwarsiima, D., Sang, N., Chamie, G., Ayieko, J., Kabami, J.,
 Owaraganise, A., Liegler, T., Mwangwa, F., Kadede, K., Jain, V., Plenty, A.,
 Brown, L., Lavoy, G., Schwab, J., Black, D., van der Laan, M., Bukusi, E, A., ...
 Havlir, D. (2017). Association of implementation of a universal testing and
 treatment intervention with HIV diagnosis, receipt of antiretroviral therapy, and
 viral suppression in East Africa. *Jama*, *317*(21), 2196–2206.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.5705

Phillips, A. N., Venter, F., Havlir, D., Pozniak, A., Kuritzkes, D., Wensing, A.,
Lundgren, J, D., DeLuca, A., Pillay, D., Mellors, J., Cambiano, V., Matharu, L,
B., Nakagawa, F., Kalua, T., Jahn, A., Apollo, T., Mugurungi, O., Clayden, P.,
Gupta, R. K., Clamy, A. (2019). Risks and benefits of dolutegravir-based
antiretroviral drug regimens in sub-Saharan Africa: A modelling study. *The*

Lancet HIV, 6(2), e116-e127. doi : <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(18)30317-</u> <u>5</u>

- Reed, J. E., Kaplan, H. C., & Ismail, S. A. (2018). A new typology for understanding context: Qualitative exploration of the model for understanding success in quality (MUSIQ). *BMC Health Services Research*, *18*(1), 584. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3348-7
- Renggli, S., Mayumana, I., Mboya, D., Charles, C., Maeda, J., Mshana, C., Kessy, F., Tediosi, F., Pfeiffer, C., Schulze, A., Aerts, A., & Lengeler, C. (2018). Towards improved health service quality in Tanzania: An approach to increase efficiency and effectiveness of routine supportive supervision. *PloS One*, *13*(9), e0202735. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0202735
- Rowland, P., Lising, D., Sinclair, L., & Baker, G. R. (2018). Team dynamics within quality improvement teams: A scoping review. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 30(6), 416–422. <u>Https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzy045</u>
- Schentrup, D., Whalen, K., Black, E., Blue, A., & Chacko, L. (2018). Building interprofessional team effectiveness in a nurse-led rural health center. *Journal of Interprofessional Education & Practice*, 12, 86–90. Doi <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xjep.2018.05.008</u>

Sensalire, S., Isabirye, P., Karamagi, E., Byabagambi, J., Rahimzai, M., & Calnan, J.(2019). Saving mothers, giving life approach for strengthening health systems to reduce maternal and newborn deaths in 7 scale-up districts in Northern Uganda.

Global Health: Science and Practice, 7(Supplement 1), S168–S187. https://doi.org/10.9745/GHSP-D-18-00263

Sexton, J. B., Adair, K. C., Leonard, M. W., Frankel, T. C., Proulx, J., Watson, S. R., Magnus, B., Bogan, B., Jamal, M., Schwendimann, R., & Frankel, A. S. (2018).
Providing feedback following leadership walk rounds is associated with better patient safety culture, higher employee engagement and lower burnout. *BMJ Quality and Safety*, 27(4), 261–270. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2016-006399</u>

- Soghier, L., & Short, B. L. (2019). The secret sauce: Secrets of high performing neonatal intensive care units. *BMJ Journals*. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2018-314844</u>
- Spehar, I., Sjøvik, H., Karevold, K. I., Rosvold, E. O., & Frich, J. C. (2017). General practitioners' views on leadership roles and challenges in primary health care: A qualitative study. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care*, 35(1), 105–110. https://doi.org/10.1080/02813432.2017.1288819
- Ssebunya, R., Wanyenze, R. K., Lukolyo, H., Mutto, M., Kisitu, G., Amuge, P.,
 Maganda, A., & Kekitiinwa, A. (2017). Antiretroviral therapy initiation within seven days of enrolment: Outcomes and time to undetectable viral load among children at an urban HIV clinic in Uganda. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *17*(1), 439. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2550-2
- Ssempijja, V., Nakigozi, G., Chang, L., Gray, R., Wawer, M., Ndyanabo, A., Kasule, J., Serwadda, D., Casterlnuovo, B., van't Hoog, A., & Reynolds, S. J. (2017). Rates of switching to second-line antiretroviral therapy and impact of delayed switching

on immunologic, virologic, and mortality outcomes among HIV-infected adults with virologic failure in Rakai, Uganda. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, *17*(1), 582. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2680-6

- Stock, S., Pitcavage, J. M., Simic, D., Altin, S., Graf, C., Feng, W., & Graf, T. R. (2014). Chronic care model strategies in the United States and Germany deliver patientcentered, high-quality diabetes care. *Health Affairs*, *33*(9), 1540–1548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0428</u>
- Sweetser, B., Semoy, A., Lehman, M., Livesley, M., Rahimzai, M., Nkolo, K, E., Mwebesa, H., Kakala, A., Massoud, R., Okware, J., & Calnan, J. (2019). *Institutionalising the culture of quality of care. Africa health.* <u>https://africa-health.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/AH-October-2019-32-quality.pdf</u>
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2014). *Using multivariate statistics* (6th ed.). Harlow, England: Pearson.
- Tappen, R. M., Wolf, D. G., Rahemi, Z., Engstrom, G., Rojido, C., Shutes, J. M., & Ouslander, J. G. (2017). Barriers and facilitators to implementing a change initiative in long-term care utilizing the INTERACT[™] Quality Improvement Program. *The health care manager*, *36*(3), 219.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/HCM.00000000000168
- Thirumurthy, H., Ndyabakira, A., Marson, K., Emperador, D., Kamya, M., Havlir, D.,Kwarisiima, D., & Chamie, G. (2019). Financial incentives for achieving andmaintaining viral suppression among HIV-positive adults in Uganda: A

randomised controlled trial. The Lancet HIV, 6(3), e155-e163.

https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-3018(18)30330-8

- Tsui, S., Denison, J. A., Kennedy, C. E., Chang, L. W., Koole, O., Torpey, K., van Praag,
 E., Farley, J., Ford, N., Stuart, L., & Wabwire-Mangen, F. (2017). Identifying
 models of HIV care and treatment service delivery in Tanzania, Uganda, and
 Zambia using cluster analysis and Delphi survey. *BMC Health Services Research*, *17*(1), 811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2772-4</u>
- Tweed, A., & Gilbert, L. (2018). The impact of a quality improvement skills-building programme on self-efficacy. *British Journal of Healthcare Management*, 24(10), 481–485. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjhc.2018.24.10.481
- United States President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR). (2019). *PEPFAR* Uganda Country Operational Plan (COP) 2019 Strategic Direction Summary. <u>https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Uganda_COP19-Strategic-</u> <u>Directional-Summary_public.pdf</u>
- Vaughn, V. M., Saint, S., Krein, S. L., Forman, J. H., Meddings, J., Ameling, J., Winter, S., Townsend, W., & Chopra, V. (2019). Characteristics of healthcare organisations struggling to improve quality: Results from a systematic review of qualitative studies. *BMJ Quality and Safety*, 28(1), 74–84. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2017-007573
- Wagner, E. H. (1998). Chronic disease management: What will it take to improve care for chronic illness? *Effective Clinical Practice: ECP*, *1*(1), 2.
Wagner, E. H., Davis, C., Schaefer, J., Von Korff, M., & Austin, B. (1999). A survey of leading chronic disease management programs: Are they consistent with the literature? *Managing Care Quarterly*. 7(3), 56–66. PMID: 10620960.

Walden University. (2020). 2020–2021 Walden University student handbook.

https://catalog.waldenu.edu/mime/media/176/5661/2020%E2%80%932021+Wald en+University+Student+Handbook+%28September+2020%29.pdf

- Wanzira, H., Naiga, S., Mulebeke, R., Bukenya, F., Nabukenya, M., Omoding, O.,
 Echodu, D., & Yeka, A. (2018). Community facilitators and barriers to a successful implementation of mass drug administration and indoor residual spraying for malaria prevention in Uganda: A qualitative study. *Malaria Journal*, *17*(1), 474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-018-2624-7</u>
- Weggelaar-Jansen, A. M., & van Wijngaarden, J. (2018). Transferring skills in quality collaboratives focused on improving patient logistics. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3051-8</u>
- Wilson, W. J., Jayamaha, N., & Frater, G. (2018). The effect of contextual factors on quality improvement success in a lean-driven New Zealand healthcare environment. *International Journal of Lean Six Sigma*, 9(2), 199–220.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLSS-03-2017-0022

World Health Organization (WHO). (2016). Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: Recommendations for a public health approach. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/arv-2016/en/ World Health Organization (WHO). (2019). Update of recommendations on first- and second-line antiretroviral regimens. <u>https://www.who.int/hiv/pub/arv/arv-update-2019-policy/en/</u>

World Health Organization (WHO). (2018). *Global health observatory data*. https://www.who.int/gho/hiv/en/

Worsley, C., Webb, S., & Vaux, E. (2016). Training healthcare professionals in quality improvement. *Future Hospital Journal*, *3*(3), 207–210.

https://doi.org/10.7861/futurehosp.3-3-207

- Yen, Y. F., Chen, M., Jen, I. A., Chuang, P. H., Lee, C. Y., Lin, S. I., & Chen, Y. M. A. (2019). Short-and long-term risks of highly active antiretroviral treatment with incident opportunistic infections among people living with HIV/AIDs. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 3476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39665-6</u>
- Yotebieng, M., Mpody, C., Ravelomanana, N. L., Tabala, M., Malongo, F., Kawende, B., Ntangu, P., Behets, F., Okitolonda, E., & CQI-PMTCT study team. (2019). HIV viral suppression among pregnant and breastfeeding women in routine care in the Kinshasa province: A baseline evaluation of participants in CQI-PMTCT study. *Journal of the International AIDS Society*, 22(9), e25376. https://doi.org/10.1002/jia2.25376
- Zapata-Vanegas, M., & Saturno-Hernández, P. J. (2018). Psychometric validation of an instrument to evaluate the context of quality improvement and accreditation of hospitals. *Salud Publica de Mexico*, 60(5), 528–538.

https://doi.org/10.21149/9127